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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to 
present to you the Annual Report of IPC Corporation 
Limited (“IPC” or “The Group”) for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015 (“FY 2015”). 

The year has been a game-changing year for The Group. 
Given the uncertainty of global economies, currency 
volatility and increasing real estate values in Japan, The 
Group decided that it was an opportune time to monetise 
the remaining seven hotels in Japan namely, nest HOTEL 
matsuyama, nest HOTEL kumamoto, nest HOTEL naha, 
nest HOTEL osaka shinsaibashi, Smile Hotel Asagaya, 
Smile Hotel Asakusa and Comfort Hotel Okayama.  

The seven hotels were sold to GK Nishi Nihon Holdings 
and GK Shinsaibashi Jisho, both 100%-owned subsidiaries 
of Ichigo Group Holdings Co., Ltd. The sale of the seven 
hotels was completed on 17 December 2015. IPC recorded 
a gain of S$41.286 million from the said transaction.

The divestment of all the Japanese hotels was in line 
with The Group’s prudent financial strategy on capital 
utilisation amidst uncertain business environment globally. 
Following the divestment, The Group proposed a cash 
distribution of S$1.60 per share to shareholders through 
a capital reduction exercise in order to achieve a more 
efficient capital structure, and it was tabled and approved 
by all shareholders present at an EGM convened on 18 
February 2016. The cash distribution of S$1.60 per share 
is targeted for completion by April 2016.
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Financial Review

During the year under review, The Group recorded sales 
of S$22.889 million compared to S$33.366 million 
for the previous financial year. The decrease in sales in 
FY 2015 compared to FY 2014 was mainly due to the 
absence of sales from the Oiso and Oppama projects in 
Japan and the absence of rental income from the two 
Sapporo hotels which were sold at the end of FY 2014. 

Gross profit increased by 12.5% to S$16.175 million 
compared to S$14.380 million in FY 2014. This was 
mainly contributed by Grand nest HOTEL zhuhai, China 
which started operation at the end of April 2014.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The disposal of the seven hotels in Japan resulted in a gain 
of S$41.286 million. Notwithstanding an impairment loss 
of around S$5.506 million recorded due to the impact 
arising mainly from the uncertain economic climate to the 
fair value of financial assets, available-for-sale, The Group 
still recorded S$36.638 million of other gains for the year 
under review.

With the sale of all nine Japanese hotels, The Group 
expects its coming quarters’ operating performances to 
be significantly and negatively impacted. 

The gross profit of S$16.175 million coupled with other 
gains and other income have resulted in Group profit 
before tax of S$38.961 million and an after-tax profit of 
S$25.048 million for FY 2015.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

China Operations 

In 2015, The Group added meeting and conference 
rooms and facilities as part of Grand nest HOTEL zhuhai’s 
offering. The Group conducted market research on 
China’s business market segment and the results revealed 
that this segment requires meeting and conference 
facilities as well as accommodation.

Backed by this information, The Group converted and 
renovated the available space of approximately 1,300 sq 
meters into meeting and conference rooms and facilities. 
At the same time, the dining facility was expanded with 
an additional floor area of around 210 sq meters. 

The Group is now able to provide an integrated and 
comprehensive hospitality services to the business 
segment. 

One of our immediate goals in 2016 is to add more hotel 
rooms, and this will be created from the available space 
of around 1,700 sq meters that is annexed to Grand nest 
HOTEL zhuhai. This will help to cater to the expected 
demand, in particular from the business segment that 
use the hotel’s meeting and conference facilities. With 
this, The Group seeks to gain significant inroads into the 
hospitality market in Zhuhai.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Looking Ahead

The Group shall continue to actively explore and evaluate 
business opportunities as well as to seek investment 
opportunities that will strengthen its operating 
performance to enhance shareholders’ value.
 

Appreciation

I would like to extend the Board’s appreciation to our 
valued customers, business associates and shareholders 
for their unwavering support. I would also like to thank 
my fellow board members, management team and our 
employees for their continued trust and determination to 
grow with us through these challenging times.

Ngiam Mia Je Patrick
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
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OPERATIONS REVIEW
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The Group concluded FY 2015 by entering into a sale and 
purchase agreement with GK Nishi Nihon Holdings and 
GK Shinsaibashi Jisho, both wholly-owned subsidiaries 
of Ichigo Group Holdings Co., Ltd., for the sale of its 
remaining seven hotels in Japan namely, nest HOTEL 
matsuyama, nest HOTEL kumamoto, nest HOTEL naha, 
nest HOTEL osaka shinsaibashi, Smile Hotel Asagaya, 
Smile Hotel Asakusa and Comfort Hotel Okayama. The 
sale was completed on 17 December 2015.

The divestment of all seven hotels was a prudent 
measure undertaken by The Group amidst uncertain 
global economic climate. Prices of all classes of real estate 
in Japan have increased significantly, thus yields have 
been compressed. A gain worth S$41.286 million was 
recorded by IPC from the said divestment.



OPERATIONS REVIEW
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

Financial Position

The Group recorded an increase in gross profit by 12.5% 
- from S$14.380 million in FY 2014 to S$16.175 million 
in FY 2015. This was mainly contributed by Grand nest 
HOTEL zhuhai, China, the 217-room boutique hotel 
which started operation at the end of April 2014.

On the other hand, IPC’s sales for FY 2015 decreased by 
31.4%, from S$33.366 million in FY 2014 to S$22.889 
million this year. The decline was attributed to the 
absence of sales from the Oiso and Oppama projects in 
Japan and rental income from the two Sapporo hotels 
that were sold at the end of FY 2014.

In June 2015, The Group completed the share 
consolidation of every ten ordinary shares into one 
ordinary share in the capital of the Company. The share 
consolidation was approved at the Extraordinary General 
Meeting held in April 2015.

The Group is making a special payout of S$1.60 per 
share through a capital reduction exercise. Therefore, 
no dividend has been declared for FY 2015. With the 
recent divestment of The Group’s hotels in Japan, IPC 
expects its coming quarters’ operating performance to 
be significantly and negatively impacted.

The year ended with The Group making an after-tax 
profit of S$25.048 million.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalent balances as at 31 
December 2015 was S$168.392 million compared to 
S$101.311 million of the previous year. The increase in 
cash and cash equivalents was mainly due to the proceeds 
from the disposal of investment properties in Japan, and 
other receivables and accruals resulting from the disposal 
of the seven hotels in Japan.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

Moving Forward

In the future, The Group will exercise due diligence as 
it carries on with its plan to explore investment and 
business opportunities that will enhance shareholders’ 
value. Meanwhile, The Group will continue to strive to 
recognise and anticipate the needs and demands of its 
discerning business customers.

China

During the year under review, The Group completed 
renovation works at its maiden hotel in China - Grand nest 
HOTEL zhuhai. This was done by utilising approximately 
1,300 sq meters of available space and converting it into 
meeting and conference rooms and facilities while the 
dining facility was expanded with an additional floor area 
of 210 sq meters.

Meeting and conference rooms and facilities were added 
to the hotel’s offerings in order to serve business customers 
who require both accommodation and meeting facilities.

The Group is all set to expand the operation of Grand 
nest HOTEL zhuhai in the coming financial year as it will 
add more rooms to cater to its growing clientele. These 
additional rooms will be created from the hotel’s available 
space of around 1,700 sq meters. Once the rooms are 
completed, The Group expects to gain further inroads 
into the hospitality market in Zhuhai.
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33.57

Total Sales
(S$ million)

Net Profit After Tax Attributable 
To Equity Holders Of The Company

(S$ million)

Earnings per share  
(S$ cents)

Net asset value per ordinary share
(S$)

Cash and Cash equivalents
(S$ million)

20142015

2014

2014

2015

2015

2014

2014

2015

2015

25.67

28.634

21.891

2.44

2.71

101.311

168.392

22.889

33.366

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
NGIAM MIA JE PATRICK
Ngiam Mia Je Patrick is the Chairman and CEO of IPC. He 
has served on IPC’s board of directors since 1992. He is 
also the Chairman and co-founder of Essex Investment 
and its group of companies (“Essex”). Patrick, graduated 
in Electronics Engineering with first class honours, is 
an acknowledged entrepreneur in Singapore and has 
received many accolades. In 1990, he was awarded the 
inaugural KPMG High-Tech Entrepreneur Award. Other 
awards include the DHL & Singapore Press Holdings 
Singapore Business Award for Businessman of the Year 
in 1994 and the Chevalier De L’Ordre National Du Merite 
conferred by Le President De La Republique Francaise in 
1996.

NGIAM MIA KIAT BENJAMIN
Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin is the Managing Director of 
IPC. He has served on IPC’s board of directors since 1992. 
He is also the co-founder of Essex. He has a Bachelor 
of Science in Electronics Engineering and graduated with 
first class honours from the University of Essex (UK).

LAUW HUI KIAN
Lauw Hui Kian is the Finance and Administration Director 
of IPC. She has served on IPC’s board of directors since 
1985. She graduated from the University of Essex (UK) 
with a Bachelor of Arts in Mathematical Economics with 
second class honours. Prior to joining IPC, she was the 
head of the finance department at Essex.

NGIAM MIA HAI BERNARD
Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard is the Executive Director of IPC 
and has served on IPC’s board of directors since 1985. He 
graduated from the National University of Singapore with 
a Bachelor of Business Administration.

NGIAM MIA HONG ALFRED
Ngiam Mia Hong Alfred is the Executive Director of IPC 
and has served on IPC’s board of directors since 1991. 
He graduated from the University of Waterloo, Canada 
with a Bachelor of Mathematics in Computer Science and 
Statistics, Dean’s Honour Roll.

LEE JOO HAI
Lee Joo Hai is an Independent Director and Non-Executive 
Director of IPC. He was appointed to IPC’s board of 
directors in 1996 and is the Chairman of the Nominating 
Committee. He is a Chartered Accountant of Singapore. 
His experience in accounting and auditing spans more 
than 30 years.

LEE SOO HOON PHILLIP
Lee Soo Hoon Phillip is an Independent Director and 
Non-Executive Director of IPC. He was appointed to 
IPC’s board of directors in 1998 and is the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee. He is a Fellow of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the 
Chartered Accountant of Singapore, a member of the 
Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the Singapore 
Institute of Directors. He was with Ernst & Young, 
Singapore for 30 years and was a partner at the last 19 
years. His experience covers areas of audit, investigations, 
liquidations, reorganisations and valuations. Currently, 
he is the Managing Director of Phillip Lee Management 
Consultants Pte Ltd.

SEAH SEOW KANG STEVEN
Seah Seow Kang Steven is an Independent Director and 
Non-Executive Director of IPC. He was appointed to IPC’s 
board of directors in 2002 and is the Lead Independent 
Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 
He graduated with LLB (Hons) from the University of 
Singapore in 1980 and also holds a Diploma in Business 
Law from the National University of Singapore in 1988. 
His experience in civil and criminal litigation, conveyance 
matters, corporate secretarial services and general advice 
to institutions in finance, insurance and company matters 
spans more than 30 years. He is a partner in the law firm 
Seah Ong & Partners LLP. 

LI LING XIU
Li Ling Xiu is a Non-Executive Director of IPC. She was 
appointed to IPC’s board of directors in 2009. She is the 
Chief Executive Officer of Chip Lian Investments (HK) 
Limited (“Chip Lian”) and Sanion Enterprises Limited. 
Prior to joining Chip Lian, she was the Group Deputy 
General Manager of China Strategic Holdings Limited, 
a listed company in Hong Kong. She has 20 years 
experience in investing in Asia, especially in China. She 
sits on various Board of Directors including Wonderful 
Sky Financial Group Holdings Limited (a listed company 
in Hong Kong). She is also a director of Fudan Premium 
Fund Management.

LIEN KAIT LONG
Lien Kait Long is an Independent Director and Non-
Executive Director of IPC. He was appointed to IPC’s 
board of directors in 2013. He holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce in Accountancy from  Nanyang University 
(Singapore) and is a fellow member of the CPA Australia 
and Fellow Chartered Accountant of Singapore. He 
had held a number of senior management positions 
as well as executive directorship in various public and 
private corporations in Singapore, Hong Kong and 
China. Currently he serves as Independent Director on the 
board of several Singapore and Chinese companies listed 
on the Singapore Exchange. The listed companies that he 
has  current and prior experience in are from diverse 
industries including manufacturing, telecommunication, 
renewable energy, oil and gas service provider, consumer 
goods, property, healthcare, textile  and packaging 
products.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ngiam Mia Je Patrick
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin
(Managing Director)

Lauw Hui Kian (Ms)
(Executive Director 
– Finance & Administration)

Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard
(Executive Director – 
Marketing & Corporate Communications, 
Business Development)

Ngiam Mia Hong Alfred
(Executive Director – 
Business Development & IT Solutions)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Lee Joo Hai
(Independent,
Chairman – Nominating Committee)

Lee Soo Hoon Phillip
(Independent,
Chairman – Audit Committee)

Seah Seow Kang Steven
(Independent,
Chairman – Remuneration Committee,
Lead Independent Director)

Li Ling Xiu (Ms)
(Non-Independent,
Member – Nominating Committee)

Lien Kait Long
(Independent,
Member – Audit Committee)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Lee Soo Hoon Phillip
(Chairman)

Lee Joo Hai

Seah Seow Kang Steven

Lien Kait Long

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Lee Joo Hai
(Chairman)

Seah Seow Kang Steven

Ngiam Mia Je Patrick
(Alternate – Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin)

Lee Soo Hoon Phillip

Li Ling Xiu

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Seah Seow Kang Steven
(Chairman)

Lee Soo Hoon Phillip

Lee Joo Hai

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard

COMPANY REGISTRATION NO.
198501057M

REGISTERED OFFICE
23 Tai Seng Drive, 
#06-00 Deutsche Telekom Centre,
Singapore 535224
Tel: 67442688 Fax: 67430691
www.ipc.com.sg

SHARE REGISTRAR’S OFFICE
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory
Services Pte Ltd
50 Raffles Place, #32-01,
Singapore Land Tower,
Singapore 048623
Tel: 65365355 Fax: 65361360

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
8 Cross Street #17-00, PWC Building
Singapore 048424

AUDIT PARTNER
Trillion So
Date of appointment: w.e.f. FY2014
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REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the Management of IPC Corporation Ltd (the “Company” or together with 
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance by adhering to 
the guidelines of the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”). In areas where the Company deviates from the 
Code, explanations are provided.

This Report describes the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities. For ease of reference, the relevant 
provisions of the Code under discussion are identified in italics.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The principal functions of the Board are:

1.	 approving the Board policies, strategies and financial objectives of the Company and monitoring the performance 
of the Management;

2.	 overseeing the processes for evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, risk management, 
financial reporting and compliance;

3.	 approving the nominations, appointments, re-appointments/re-elections of directors as well as appointment of 
key management personnel;

4.	 approving major funding proposals, investment and divestment proposals; and

5.	 assuming responsibility for corporate governance.

All directors must objectively discharge their duties and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries in their interest of the 
Company.

Matters which are specifically referred to the full Board for decision are those involving a conflict of interest for 
substantial shareholder or director, quarterly and full-year results, material acquisitions and disposals of assets, corporate 
or financial restructuring and share issuances, dividends and other returns to shareholders.

The Board conducts at least 4 meetings in a year, and ad-hoc meetings are convened as and when required. The 
Company’s Constitution (the “Constitution”) allows a board meeting to be conducted by way of tele-conference or 
other means of communication. The attendance of directors at meetings of the Board and Board Committees, as well 
as the frequency of such meetings are disclosed below:

Remuneration Nominating
Board of Directors Audit Committee Committee Committee

Number of meetings
Name Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Ngiam Mia Je Patrick 4 4 - - - - 1 1
Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin 4 4 - - - - - -
Lauw Hui Kian 4 4 - - - - - -
Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard 4 4 - - - - - -
Ngiam Mia Hong Alfred 4 4 - - - - - -
Lee Soo Hoon Phillip 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Lee Joo Hai 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Seah Seow Kang Steven 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Li Ling Xiu 4 4 - - - - 1 1
Lien Kait Long 4 4 4 4 - - - -
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REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs (continued)

All directors have access to the company secretary who provides the Board with regular updates on corporate governance 
processes and listing requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX‑ST”) from time to time. 

All directors also have access to senior management and are updated regularly concerning any changes in the Company’s 
policies and procedures relating to issues pertaining to governance, disclosure of interests in securities and restrictions 
on disclosure of price sensitive information.

Directors can request explanations, briefings or informal discussions on any aspect of the Company’s operations or 
business issues from Management. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) will make the necessary arrangements for these 
briefings, informal discussions or explanations.

The directors can attend seminars or conferences in connection with their duties as directors. Newly appointed directors 
will be briefed on the Group’s business and governance policies. There was no new director appointed in financial year 
ended 31 December 2015.

For 2015, directors were briefed in areas such as updates on Listing Rules of the SGX‑ST, changes to accounting standards 
and regulatory developments. Relevant news releases issued by the SGX‑ST and the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority of Singapore were also circulated to the Board. Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant 
courses conducted by Singapore Institute of Directors, Singapore Exchange Limited, professional firm, business and 
financial institutions and consultants. In 2015, certain directors had attended seminar conducted by Singapore Institute 
of Directors, Singapore Exchange Limited and professional firm.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

The Board comprises four (4) non-executive and independent directors, one (1) non-executive and non-independent 
director and five (5) executive directors. This composition complies with the Code’s guideline that at least one-third of 
the Board should be made up of independent directors. The Board noted the recommended guideline under the Code 
that independent directors should make up at least half of the Board if the Chairman and CEO is the same person, 
which would be effective at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) following the financial year ending 31 December 
2017. The Board would implement this recommendation as and when appropriate.

The independence of each director is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee (“NC”). The NC is of the view 
that the independent directors of the Company are independent and that no individual or small group of individuals 
dominate the Board’s decision making process. Key information regarding the directors is given in the “Board of 
Directors” section of the annual report.

The Board has determined after taking into account the views of the NC, that each independent director, namely Mr 
Lee Soo Hoon Phillip, Mr Lee Joo Hai, Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven and Mr Lien Kait Long is independent in character 
and judgement and there are no relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the 
director’s judgement.

Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip, Mr Lee Joo Hai and Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven had served on the Board for more than 9 years. 
Taking into account the views of the NC, the Board has also reviewed and considered Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip, Mr Lee Joo 
Hai and Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven to be independent after having determined that they have no relationship with the 
Company, its related corporations, its 10% shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived 
to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s independent business judgement with a view to the best interest of the 
Company. Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip, Mr Lee Joo Hai and Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven have throughout their appointment, 
demonstrated strong independence in character and judgement in the discharge of their responsibilities as directors 
of the Company. They have continued to express their individual viewpoints, debated issues and objectively challenged 
the Management. They have sought clarification and amplification as they deemed required.
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REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance (continued)

Having considered the nature and the scope of the Group’s business and the number of Board committees, the Board 
considers its present board size of ten members appropriate. The Board comprises directors who as a group provide 
a balance of skills, experience and gender (2 existing female directors on the Board) as well as core competencies in 
accounting, legal and business experience necessary to meet the Company’s targets. More details of the directors’ 
experience and core competencies are provided under the “Board of Directors” section in the Annual Report.

Non-executive directors have reviewed the performance of Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and 
monitored the reporting of the performance.

The Company would make available its premises for use by non-executive directors at any time for them to meet 
regularly without the presence of Management.

Principle 3: Role of Chairman and CEO

The positions of Chairman and CEO are held by one person, Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick, who is an executive director. The 
Chairman and CEO is the most senior executive in the Company and bears executive responsibility for the Company’s 
business, as well as for the workings of the Board.

The Chairman’s roles include:

-	 lead the Board to ensure the effectiveness on all aspects of its role;
-	 set the agenda and ensure that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular 

strategic issue;
-	 promote a culture of openness and debate at the Board;
-	 ensure that the directors receive complete, adequate and timely information;
-	 ensure effective communication with shareholders;
-	 encourage constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and Management;
-	 facilitate the effective contribution of non-executive directors in particular; and
-	 promote high standards of corporate governance.

The Company believes that the non-executive and independent directors have demonstrated high commitments in 
their roles as directors and have ensured that there is a good balance of power and authority. Although the roles and 
responsibilities of the Chairman and the CEO are vested in Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick, the current composition of the 
Board is able to make objective and prudent judgement of the Group’s corporate affairs. The Board is of the view that 
there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the process of decision-making by the Board is independent 
and based on collective decisions without any individual or small group of individuals exercising any considerable 
concentration of power or influence. Taking cognisance of the non-separation of the roles of the Chairman and the 
CEO, the Board had appointed Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven as lead independent director.

The lead independent director, Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven, would be available to shareholders where they have 
concerns and for which contact through the normal channels of the Chairman, the CEO or the Finance Director (or 
equivalent) has failed to resolve or is inappropriate.

Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfil its responsibilities, Management provides Board members with regular 
updates of the financial position of the Company. Monthly reports and quarterly reports of the Company’s financial 
performance are provided to the executive directors and the Board respectively. Analytical reports on the Company are 
forwarded to the directors on an on-going basis as and when received. The directors have also been provided with the 
telephone numbers and e-mail particulars of the Company’s senior management and company secretary to facilitate 
access.
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REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Principle 6: Access to Information (continued)

Should directors, whether as a group or individually, need independent professional advice, the company secretary will, 
upon direction by the Board, appoint a suitable professional advisor to render the advice. The cost of such professional 
advice will be borne by the Company.

The company secretary or her representative attends all Board meetings and is responsible for ensuring that Board 
procedures are followed. It is the responsibility of the company secretary and Management to ensure that the Company 
complies with all statutory and regulatory requirements.

The appointment and the removal of the company secretary is subject to the approval of the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Nominating Committee (“NC”)

Principle 4: Board Membership

The Chairman of the NC, Mr Lee Joo Hai, is an independent non-executive director who is neither a 10% shareholder 
nor directly associated with a 10% shareholder of the Company. There are five (5) members in the NC, three (3) of whom 
are independent non-executive directors.

The members are:

Mr Lee Joo Hai	 (Chairman)
Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven	 (Lead Independent Director)
Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick	 (Alternate - Mr Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin)
Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip
Ms Li Ling Xiu

The NC’s principal functions are:

1.	 identifying candidates and reviewing all nominations for the appointment or re-appointment of members of the 
Board of Directors for the purpose of proposing such nominations to the Board for its approval;

2.	 assessing nominees or candidates for appointment or re-election to the Board, determining whether or not such 
nominee has the requisite qualifications;

3.	 deciding how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria for the 
Board’s approval;

4.	 assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and the contribution by each individual director to the 
effectiveness of the Board;

5.	 determining annually whether or not a director is independent;

6.	 assessing the abilities and the adequacy of directors with multiple board representations in carrying out their 
duties;

7.	 recommending to the Board for the continuation (or not) in services of any director who has reached the age of 
seventy (70) years;
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REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nominating Committee (“NC”) (continued)

Principle 4: Board Membership (continued)

8.	 reviewing board succession plans for directors, in particular, the Chairman and for the CEO; and

9.	 reviewing training and professional development program for the Board.

In the selection and nomination for new directors, the NC taps on the directors’ resources for recommendations of 
potential candidates. External resources may also be sought to source for potential candidates, where necessary. The 
potential candidates will go through a shortlisting process and thereafter, interviews are set up with the shortlisted 
candidates for the NC to assess them before a decision is made. The Board, on the recommendation of the NC, appoints 
new directors. Such new directors must submit themselves for re-election at the next AGM of the Company in accordance 
with Article 89 of the Company’s Constitution. Article 90 of the Company’s Constitution requires one-third of the Board 
to retire by rotation at every AGM.

The NC has recommended the nomination of the directors retiring by rotation under Article 90 of the Company’s 
Constitution for re-election at the forthcoming AGM, namely Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick and Mr Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard.

Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip who is over the age of 70 was re-appointed as director to hold office from the date of the 
last AGM (held on 28 April 2015) until the forthcoming AGM pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 
50. Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 was repealed when the Companies (Amendment) Act 2014 came into 
effect on 3 January 2016. As his appointment will lapse at the forthcoming AGM, Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip will have 
to be re-appointed to continue in office. Upon his re-appointment at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM, going 
forward, Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip’s re-appointment will no longer be subject to shareholders’ approval under Section 
153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 as repealed. Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip will then be subject to retirement by rotation 
under the Company’s Constitution. Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip is not related to any directors or controlling shareholders.

Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and/or participating in deliberations of his own 
re-election/re-appointment.

Although the directors have other listed company board representations and principal commitments, the NC has 
determined, during the annual assessment of the Board’s performance, that the directors have devoted sufficient time 
and attention to their role as directors and to the affairs of the Group. The NC is of the view that such appointments 
will not affect the directors’ ability to carry out their duties as directors of the Company and therefore, it would not 
be necessary to prescribe a maximum number of listed company board representations a director may hold. The Board 
concurs with the view of the NC.

The NC has reviewed and satisfied that all the directors have been adequately carrying out their duties as a director of 
the Company.

Principle 5: Board Performance

The NC, in recommending the nomination of any director for re-election, considers the contribution of the director, 
which includes his qualification, experience, and area of expertise, time and effort devoted to the Company’s affairs, 
attendance and participation at Board and Board Committee meetings. For those directors who hold multiple board 
representations in public listed companies, the Board is of the opinion that such multiple board representations will not 
affect their ability to carry out their duties as directors of the Company.

The NC has conducted a Board Performance Evaluation exercise to assess the effectiveness of the Board for financial 
year ended 31 December 2015. The performance criteria include an evaluation of the size and composition of the Board, 
Board accountability, Board process, guidance to and communication with Management and standard of conduct. The 
NC believes it is more appropriate to assess the Board as a whole, rather than assessing individual directors, bearing in 
mind that each member of the Board contributes in different ways to the effectiveness of the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board is responsible to provide a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position 
and prospects which extends to interim and other price sensitive public reports, and report to regulators (if applicable).

The Board takes adequate steps to ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, including 
requirements under the Listing Rules of the SGX‑ST.

To ensure the Board fulfils its responsibilities, Management is accountable to the Board by providing with the necessary 
updates in relation to the performance of the Company as well as the financial information for the discharge of its 
duties. Management provides the Board with information as the Board may require from time to time.

Audit Committee (“AC”)

Principle 12: Audit Committee

The AC comprises four (4) members, all of whom are non-executive and independent directors. Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip, 
Mr Lee Joo Hai and Mr Lien Kait Long, are by profession Chartered Accountants. Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven has many 
years of legal experience. The Board is of the view that its members have the requisite financial management expertise 
and experience to discharge the AC’s functions. No former partner or director of the Company’s existing auditing firm 
is a member of the AC.

The members are:

Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip	 (Chairman)
Mr Lee Joo Hai
Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven
Mr Lien Kait Long

The AC met on a quarterly basis for the year ended 31 December 2015 and performed the following main functions:

1.	 recommended to the Board of Directors the nomination of external auditor, approved the remuneration of the 
external auditor, and reviewed the scope and results of the audit, and its cost-effectiveness;

2.	 reviewed with Management, external auditor and together with the internal auditor (where necessary), 
significant financial risks or exposures that exist and assesses the steps Management has taken to minimise such 
risks to the Company;

3.	 reviewed with Management, other significant risks and exposures that exist and assesses the steps Management 
has taken to minimise such risks to the Company;

4.	 reviewed the following:

-	 the Group’s quarterly and annual financial statements and related footnotes, and the integrity of financial 
reporting of the Group including accounting principles for recommendation to the Board for approval;

-	 the external auditor’s audit of the annual financial statements and reports thereon;
-	 the adequacy of the Company’s system of accounting controls;
-	 the assistance given by Management to external auditor;
-	 any related significant findings and recommendations of the external auditor together with Management’s 

responses thereto;
-	 any significant changes required in the external auditor’s audit plan, any serious difficulties or disputes 

with Management encountered during the course of the audit and their resolution, and other matters 
related to the conduct of the audit;

-	 the significant financial reporting issues and judgements for ensuring the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Company and announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance; and

-	 the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function.
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Audit Committee (“AC”) (continued)

Principle 12: Audit Committee (continued)

5.	 reviewed with Management and reported to the Board annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls including financial, operational, compliance and, information technology systems and practices;

6.	 reviewed interested person transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the 
SGX‑ST;

7.	 reviewed legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements;

8.	 met once with the external auditor without the presence of Management; and

9.	 reported actions and minutes of the AC to the Board with such recommendations as the AC considers appropriate.

The AC has the power to conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within its terms of reference and has full 
access to, and co-operation from Management, and full discretion to invite any director and executive officer to attend 
its meetings. Minutes of the AC meetings are regularly submitted to the Board for its information and review.

The aggregate amount of fees paid to external auditor amounted to $260,000 for audit services and S$13,800 for non-
audit services. The Company has complied with Rule 712 and Rule 715 of the Listing Manual of the SGX‑ST in relation 
to the appointment of auditing firm for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

The AC has conducted an annual review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditor in respect of financial 
year ended 31 December 2015 and is satisfied that the nature and extent of such services do not affect the independence 
of the external audit. Accordingly, it has recommended the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as external 
auditor of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, carried out, in the course of their statutory audit, a 
review of the Company’s material internal controls to the extent required to express an opinion on the Group’s financial 
statements. Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted during their audit, and the external 
auditor’s recommendations, are reported to the AC.

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy. The whistle-blowing policy serves to encourage and provide a 
channel where employees of the Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible corporate improprieties 
in matters of financial reporting or other matters. There were no whistle-blowing letters received during the year and 
until the date of this report.

Before the release of the Group’s quarterly and full-year results, the AC meets to review the results announcement 
together with the external auditor prior to its recommendations to the Board for approval.

Any change and issue to accounting standards that may have a direct impact on the financial statements would be 
raised by the external auditor and kept the AC abreast of such changes.
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Accountability and Audit 

Principle 11: Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Company does not currently have a risk management committee. However, Management regularly reviews the 
Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well as appropriate measures 
to control and mitigate these risks.

The Company has established four sets of Standard Operating Procedures (“SOP”) which are linked to the nature 
of the business to enhance its internal control systems. The four sets of SOP are (i) Investment Evaluation Risk and 
Operation Control Measures for Property Investment and Property Development Projects, (ii) IT Disaster Recovery Plan, 
(iii) Quoted/Unquoted Equity - Fund Investment and (iv) Finance and Operational Internal Controls. In order to obtain 
assurance that the Group’s risks are managed adequately and effectively, the Board had reviewed an overview of the 
risks which the Group is exposed to, as well as an understanding of what countermeasures and internal controls are in 
place to manage them.

The Board has obtained assurance from the CEO and Finance Director for the period under review:

(a)	 that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the Group’s operations and finances; and

(b)	 that the Group’s risk management systems and internal control systems are in place and effective.

The AC has reviewed the Group’s risk assessment and is satisfied that there are adequate internal controls in the Group. 
The AC expects the risk assessment process to be a continuing process.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Company, work performed by the external auditor 
and reviews performed by Management, the AC as well as the Board, the AC and the Board are of the opinion that the 
Group’s internal controls, addressing financial, operational, information technology controls, risk management systems 
and compliance risk were adequate and effective. The Company has complied with Rule 1207(10) of the Listing Manual 
of the SGX‑ST.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The Company has outsourced its internal audit function. The internal audit will be performed as and when necessary. 
The internal auditor reports primarily to the Chairman of the AC. The internal auditor plans its internal audit schedule 
in consultation with but independent of Management. The internal audit plan is submitted to the AC for approval prior 
to the commencement of the internal audit. The AC reviews the activities of the internal auditor, including overseeing 
and monitoring of the implementation of improvements required on internal control witnesses identified. The AC will 
also review the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function.

The AC approves the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of the accounting/auditing firm to which the 
internal audit function is outsourced. The internal auditor has unfettered access to all the Company’s documents, 
records, properties and personnel, including access to the AC.

The AC reviews the audit plans and ensures that the internal audit has been carried out effectively.

The internal auditor has adopted the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute 
of Internal Auditors.

As part of the annual statutory audit of the financial statements, the external auditor also reports to the AC on any 
material weaknesses in the Group’s internal controls and provide recommendation on other significant matters such as 
risk management which have come to their attention during the course of the audit.
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Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

The RC comprises 3 directors, all of whom are non-executive and independent directors.

The members are:

Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven	 (Chairman)
Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip
Mr Lee Joo Hai

The RC possesses general knowledge in the field of remuneration and will seek external professional advice, if necessary.

The RC’s principal responsibilities are to review and recommend to the Board, a framework of remuneration and 
to determine specific remuneration packages and terms of employment for each of the executive directors and key 
management personnel to ensure that the remuneration packages are competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and 
motivate senior management of the required quality to run the Company successfully. Each member of the RC shall 
abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of the assessment of his own remuneration.

In setting remuneration packages for the executive directors and key management personnel, the Company takes into 
consideration the remuneration and employment conditions within the same industry and in comparable companies, as 
well as the Group’s relative performance and the performance of the individuals. The terms of the service contracts of 
the executive directors and key management personnel, including termination clauses, are not overly generous.

The executive directors’ remuneration packages include a variable component which is performance related and other 
benefits. All executive directors’ service contracts were renewed for a period of 5 years till 10 April 2021.

For competitive reasons and due to sensitivity, the Company is not disclosing the remuneration of each individual 
director. The Company is of the view that the disclosure in bands of S$250,000 would provide a good overview and is 
informative of the remuneration of the executive directors, who are also the key management personnel. The disclosure 
by respective bands of remuneration for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 is provided as follows: 

Profit sharing Remuneration Director’s fee
% % %

S$500,000 to S$749,999
- Ngiam Mia Je Patrick 45 55 -
- Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin 49 51 -

S$250,000 to S$499,999
- Lauw Hui Kian 43 57 -
- Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard 43 57 -
- Ngiam Mia Hong Alfred 43 57 -

Below S$250,000
- Lee Soo Hoon Phillip - - 100
- Lee Joo Hai - - 100
- Seah Seow Kang Steven - - 100
- Li Ling Xiu - - 100
- Lien Kait Long - - 100



IPC CORPORATION LTD AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES22

REPORT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (“RC”) (continued)

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies (continued)
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration (continued)
Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration (continued)

The Company does not have any other key management personnel apart from executive directors and hence, no 
disclosure was made on remuneration of key management personnel for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 
The Company has no employee who is an immediate family member of a director or the CEO and whose remuneration 
exceeds S$50,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Only non-executive directors are paid directors’ fees and the fees are subject to the approval of the shareholders 
at the Company’s AGM. The proposed fees are determined after considering factors such as effort, time spent and 
contribution from the non-executive directors as well as in accordance with the market practice. No director is involved 
in deciding his own remuneration.

The Company adopts a remuneration policy for staff comprising a fixed component and a variable component. The 
fixed component is in the form of a base salary. The variable component is in the form of variable bonus that is linked 
to the performance of the Company and the individual’s performance.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Principle 14: Shareholder Rights 
Principle 15: Communication with Shareholders  
Principle 16: Conduct of Shareholder Meetings 

The Company’s results announcements are disseminated through SGXNET, news releases and the Company’s website. All 
information on the Company’s new initiatives are first disseminated via SGXNET followed by a news release (whenever 
deemed necessary), which is also available on the Company’s website at www.ipc.com.sg. 

The Company is aware of its obligations to shareholders in providing information regarding any changes in the Group’s 
business which would likely to materially affect the price or value of the Company’s shares. 

Price sensitive information is first publicly released, either before the Company meets with any group of investors or 
analysts or simultaneously at such meetings. Results and annual reports are announced or issued within the mandatory 
period and are available on the Company’s website. The Company does not practise selective disclosure.

The Company has an investor relations team who communicates with its investors and attends to their queries. 
All shareholders of the Company receive the annual reports and/or circulars for its general meeting. The notice of 
shareholders’ meetings is also advertised in a daily newspaper and is made available on the SGXNET. At the AGM, 
shareholders are given the opportunity to air their views and ask directors (including the Chairman of AC, NC and RC 
who would be present at the AGM) and/or Management questions regarding the Company. The external auditor is also 
invited to attend the AGM to assist the directors in addressing any queries relating to the conduct of the audit and the 
preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

Pursuant to the Company’s Constitution, a poll may be demanded by the Chairman of the general meeting, or by 
at least two members, or member(s) representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all members 
having the rights to vote at a meeting. The Company will be conducting poll voting for all resolutions proposed at the 
forthcoming AGM for greater transparency in the voting process in accordance with the Listing Manual of SGX‑ST.

The Company ensures that there are separate resolutions at general meetings on each distinct issue. The minutes of the 
general meetings are available to shareholders upon their written request.
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Principle 14: Shareholder Rights (continued)
Principle 15: Communication with Shareholders (continued)
Principle 16: Conduct of Shareholder Meetings (continued) 

As the authentication of shareholder identity information and other related security issues still remain a concern, the 
Company has decided, for the time being, not to implement voting in absentia by mail, email or fax.

The Company does not have a formal dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of any proposed dividend will 
take into consideration the Group’s operating results, financial position, working capital requirements and any other 
relevant considerations as the Board may deem appropriate. 

The details of dividend payment (if any) would be disclosed via the release of financial results announcements through 
SGXNET.

In view of the proposed special payout of cash of S$1.60 per share by way of a capital reduction exercise, no final 
dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 was recommended.

Dealing in Securities

The Company has adopted a code of conduct to provide guidance to its officers with regard to dealings in Company’s 
securities which states that its directors and officers are not allowed to deal in the Company’s securities during the 
period commencing two weeks before the announcement of the Company’s financial statements for each of the first 
three quarters of its financial year or one month before the announcement of the Company’s results for the financial 
year and ending on the date of the announcement of the results, and at any time they are in possession of unpublished 
material price sensitive information. In addition, the directors, officers and employees of the Group are discouraged 
from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations. The Company confirms that it has adhered to its 
code of conduct pursuant to Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual of the SGX‑ST on Dealings in Securities.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has procedures for review and approval of any transactions with interested persons within the definition 
of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX‑ST. There were no interested person transactions during the financial year 
which exceed the threshold limits set out under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX‑ST and no announcement 
or shareholders’ approval was, therefore, required.

Material Contracts

No material contracts were entered between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with any directors or controlling 
shareholders during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.
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The directors present their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 
2015. 

In the opinion of the directors,

(a)	 the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set 
out on pages 27 to 76 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company 
and of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of 
the Group for the financial year covered by the consolidated financial statements; and

(b)	 at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows: 

Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick
Mr Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin
Ms Lauw Hui Kian
Mr Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard
Mr Ngiam Mia Hong Alfred
Mr Lee Joo Hai
Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip
Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven
Ms Li Ling Xiu
Mr Lien Kait Long

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 
object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

(a)	 According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors holding office at the end of the 
financial year had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as 
follows:

Holdings registered
in the name of

director or nominee

Holdings in which
director is deemed
to have an interest

At
31.12.2015

At
1.1.2015

At
31.12.2015

At
1.1.2015

IPC Corporation Ltd
	(No. of ordinary shares)
Ngiam Mia Je Patrick 1,063,981* 10,639,812 8,717,893* 87,178,939
Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin 1,053,681* 10,536,811 7,558,114* 75,581,149
Lauw Hui Kian 1,159,779* 11,597,790 8,622,095* 86,220,961
Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard 1,096,029* 10,960,290 – –
Ngiam Mia Hong Alfred 1,058,529* 10,585,290 – –
Seah Seow Kang Steven 3,101* 31,011 – –

*	 On 9 June 2015, the Company completed the share consolidation of every ten ordinary shares into one ordinary share in the capital of 
the Company, with fractional entitlements to be disregarded. 

(b)	 According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, no director holding office at the end of the financial year 
had interests in options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company granted. 

(c)	 The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 21 January 2016 were the same as those as at 
31 December 2015.
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Share options

There were no options granted during the financial year.

No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of 
the Company.

There were no unissued shares of the Company under option at the end of the financial year.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee (“AC”) at the end of the financial year were as follows:

Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip	 (Chairman)
Mr Lee Joo Hai
Mr Seah Seow Kang Steven
Mr Lien Kait Long

All members of the AC are non-executive and independent directors.

The AC carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50. In 
performing those functions, the AC reviewed: 

• 	 the scope and the results of internal audit procedures (if any);

•	 the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor and any recommendations on internal controls arising 
from the statutory audit;

•	 the assistance given by the Company’s management to the independent auditor; and

•	 the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 before their submission to the Board of Directors, as well as 
the independent auditor’s report on the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group.

The AC has recommended to the Board that the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, be nominated for 
re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Independent Auditor

The independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Ngiam Mia Je Patrick	 Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin
Chairman	 Director

3 February 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the members of IPC Corporation Ltd

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of IPC Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) set out on pages 27 to 76, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the 
Group and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and 
that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 
accountability of assets.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the 
Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 
December 2015, and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year 
ended on that date.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors, have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants

Singapore, 3 February 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Sales 4 22,889 33,366
Cost of sales (6,714) (18,986)
Gross profit 16,175 14,380

Other income 7 1,479 1,347

Other gains/(losses), net 8 36,638 38,760

Expenses
- Distribution and marketing (567) (1,628)
- Administrative (11,179) (12,263)
- Finance (3,582) (3,524)
- Other (3) (2)

(15,331) (17,417)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 38,961 37,070

Income tax expense 9 (13,913) (6,197)

Total profit/(loss) 25,048 30,873

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Financial assets, available-for-sale
- Fair value gains/(losses) 648 425
- Reclassification (1,961) –

Currency translation differences arising from consolidation

- Gains/(losses) 7,376 (1,806)

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax 6,063 (1,381)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 31,111 29,492

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 21,891 28,634
Non-controlling interests 3,157 2,239

25,048 30,873

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 27,954 27,253
Non-controlling interests 3,157 2,239

31,111 29,492

Earnings per share for profit/(loss) attributable to equity
holders of the Company
(cents per share)
- Basic 10 25.67 33.57
- Diluted 10 25.67 33.57

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Group Company
Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11 168,392 101,311 102,236 53,697
Trade and other receivables 12 10,019 4,475 286 303
Tax recoverable 675 802 – –
Properties developed for sale 13 21,175 71,092 – –
Properties held for sale 14 3,306 – – –
Other assets 54 53 – –
Non-current asset held for sale 15 47,080 – – –

250,701 177,733 102,522 54,000

Non-current assets
Financial assets, available-for-sale 16 12,904 22,092 10,039 13,480
Other receivables 17 – – 63,232 60,279
Prepayment 3 10 – –
Investments in associated
companies 18 – – – –

Investment properties 19 – 118,081 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 20 – – 82,784 98,827
Prepaid leasehold properties 21 4,274 4,243 – –
Land held for development 22 6,422 6,422 6,422 6,422
Property, plant and equipment 23 9,470 7,186 1,459 93
Deferred income tax assets – 1 – –
Other assets 110 153 – –

33,183 158,188 163,936 179,101

Total assets 283,884 335,921 266,458 233,101

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 28,741 8,507 3,498 1,366
Current income tax liabilities 1,635 611 – –
Borrowings 25 10,940 64,197 5,326 40,923

41,316 73,315 8,824 42,289

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 25 3,937 39,230 – –
Deferred income tax liabilities 26 2,877 10,392 – –

6,814 49,622 – –

Total liabilities 48,130 122,937 8,824 42,289

NET ASSETS 235,754 212,984 257,634 190,812

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable
to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 27 169,658 169,658 169,658 169,658
Currency translation reserve (13,137) (20,513) – –
Fair value reserve 28 507 1,820 507 1,249
Retained earnings 29 74,028 57,255 87,469 19,905

231,056 208,220 257,634 190,812
Non-controlling interests 20 4,698 4,764 – –

Total equity 235,754 212,984 257,634 190,812

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Note
Share
capital

Currency
translation 

reserve

Fair
value

reserve
Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

Equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015
Beginning of financial year 169,658 (20,513) 1,820 57,255 208,220 4,764 212,984

Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year – 7,376 (1,313) 21,891 27,954 3,157 31,111

Distribution to non-controlling 
interests – – – – – (3,223) (3,223)

Dividends paid relating to 2014 30 – – – (5,118) (5,118) – (5,118)

End of financial year 169,658 (13,137) 507 74,028 231,056 4,698 235,754

2014
Beginning of financial year 169,658 (18,707) 1,395 31,606 183,952 2,997 186,949

Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year – (1,806) 425 28,634 27,253 2,239 29,492

Distribution to non-controlling 
interests – – – – – (472) (472)

Dividends paid relating to 2013 30 – – – (2,985) (2,985) – (2,985)

End of financial year 169,658 (20,513) 1,820 57,255 208,220 4,764 212,984

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Total profit/(loss) 25,048 30,873
Adjustments for
- Income tax expense 13,913 6,197
- Depreciation 593 414
- Amortisation of prepaid leasehold properties 82 77
- Unrealised currency translation losses/(gains) 3,406 214
- Gain on disposal of financial assets, available-for-sale (1,056) –
- Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (123) (1)
- Fair value gain on asset revaluation – (22,704)
- Gain on disposal of investment properties (41,286) (14,769)
- Impairment loss of financial assets, available-for-sale 5,506 148
- Impairment loss of other assets 40 –
- Interest income (1,030) (941)
- Interest expense 3,582 3,524

8,675 3,032

Change in working capital
- Other asset (1) (53)
- Properties 891 13,910
- Trade and other receivables (5,163) (697)
- Trade and other payables 21,353 (512)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 25,755 15,680

Interest received 783 926
Income tax paid, net (20,446) (1,046)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 6,092 15,560

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (2,871) (467)
Purchases of financial assets, available-for-sale (3,723) (343)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 240 4
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 158,332 27,703
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets, available-for-sale 8,303 –

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 160,281 26,897

Cash flows from financing activities
Bank deposit (pledged) 29,747 13,979
Interest paid (4,701) (3,353)
Proceeds from borrowings 5,521 7,544
Repayment of borrowings (93,871) (29,469)
Distribution to non-controlling interests (3,223) (472)
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company (5,118) (2,985)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (71,645) (14,756)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 94,728 27,701
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 11 65,564 36,495
Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents 2,100 1,368

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 11 162,392 65,564

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1.	 General information

IPC Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) is listed on the Singapore Exchange and incorporated and domiciled in 
Singapore. The address of its registered office is 23 Tai Seng Drive, #06-00, Singapore 535224.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding, property investment and property development.

The principal activities of its subsidiary companies are investment holding, property investment and property 
development, investing and reselling properties, property consulting, hospitality services and sale and distribution 
of telecommunication products.

2.	 Significant accounting policies

2.1	 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed 
in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement 
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2015

On 1 January 2015, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) that are 
mandatory for application for the financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as 
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the accounting 
policies of the Group and the Company and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or 
prior financial years except for the following:

FRS 108 Operating segments

The Group has adopted the above amendment to FRS 108 on 1 January 2015. The amendment is applicable for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014.

It sets out the required disclosures on the judgements made by management in aggregating operating segments. 
This includes description of the segments which have been aggregated and the economic indicators which have 
been assessed in determining that the aggregated segments share similar economic characteristics. The standard 
is further amended to require a reconciliation of segment assets to entity’s assets when segment assets are 
reported.

The Group has included the additional required disclosures in Note 35 of the financial statements.

2.2	 Revenue recognition

Sales comprise the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of 
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Sales are presented, net of value-added tax, rebates and 
discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2	 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and related cost can be reliably measured, it is 
probable that the collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured and when the specific criteria for 
each of the Group’s activities are met as follows:

(a)	 Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customers and it is probable 
that the goods will not be returned.

(b)	 Sale of developed properties

Revenue from sale of developed properties is recognised when the properties are transferred to the 
buyers.

(c)	 Rendering of services

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the services are rendered.

(d)	 Hotel revenue

Revenue from letting out of rooms, food and beverages sales and other hotel related services is recognised 
at the time when services are rendered.

(e)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(f)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(g)	 Rental income

Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h)	 Membership fee

Membership fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the membership term.

2.3	 Group accounting

(a)	 Subsidiaries

(i)	 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3	 Group accounting (continued)

(a)	 Subsidiaries (continued)

(i)	 Consolidation (continued)

As defined under Financial Reporting Standards 110 - Consolidated Financial Statements (“FRS 
110”), the Group identified that it has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct 
relevant activities of the TK operators established in Japan, is exposed to variable returns from its 
involvement with the TK operators and has the ability to affect those returns through the existing 
rights over the TK operators. The Group accordingly consolidates their financial statements for 
reporting purpose. TK operators are principally engaged in property-related businesses.

A TK operator is consolidated from the date on which the Group has met requirements under FRS 
110. It is deconsolidated from the date that these requirements are not met.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are 
considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests comprise the portion of a subsidiary’s net results of operations and 
its net assets, which is attributable to the interests that are not owned directly or indirectly by 
the equity holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position. Total 
comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective 
interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(ii)	 Acquisitions

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations entered into 
by the Group.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair value of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration 
transferred also includes any contingent consideration arrangement and any pre-existing equity 
interest in the subsidiary measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related 
costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over (b) 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

(iii)	 Disposals

When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. 
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings if required by a specific 
Standard.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3	 Group accounting (continued)

(a)	 Subsidiaries (continued)

(iii)	 Disposals (continued)

Any retained interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost and its fair value is recognised in 
profit or loss.

(b)	 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over the 
subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company. Any difference between 
the change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration 
paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company.

(c)	 Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, 
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not exceeding 
50%. Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if any.

Investments in associated companies are initially recognised at cost. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the 
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill on associated companies 
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the associated company over the Group’s share of the 
fair value of the identifiable net assets of the associated company and is included in the carrying amount 
of the investments.

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-acquisition 
profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income 
is recognised in other comprehensive income. These post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the 
carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company equals or exceeds its interest in the associated 
company, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has legal or constructive obligations to 
make, or has made, payments on behalf of the associated company. If the associated company subsequently 
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of these profits only after its share of the profits 
equals the share of losses not recognised.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. The accounting policies of 
associated companies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting 
policies adopted by the Group.

Investments in associated companies are derecognised when the Group loses significant influence. If the 
retained interest in the former associated company is a financial asset, the retained interest is remeasured 
at its fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when 
significant influence is lost and its fair value and any proceeds on partial disposal is recognised in profit 
or loss.

The accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries and associated companies in the separate financial 
statements of the Company is as included in Note 2.11.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4	 Property, plant and equipment

(a)	 Measurement

(i)	 Land and buildings

Land and buildings are initially recognised at cost. Freehold land is subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Leasehold land and buildings are subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

(ii)	 Other property, plant and equipment

All other property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

(iii)	 Components of costs

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase 
price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Cost also 
includes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset (Note 2.8).

(b)	 Depreciation

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of property, plant and equipment is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

Useful lives

Leasehold land and buildings 50 - 99 years
Leasehold improvements  5 - 20 years
Furniture, fixtures and fittings  1 - 20 years
Office equipment  3 - 5 years
Motor vehicles  3 - 10 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effects of any revision 
are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

(c)	 Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other repair and maintenance expense is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(d)	 Disposal

	 On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds 
and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5	 Land held for development

Land held for development includes the costs for obtaining the right to occupy and use land, certain fees for 
altering the intended use of land and resettlement costs, and are stated at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses.

2.6	 Properties developed for sale

Properties developed for sale are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less selling expenses.

2.7	 Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less selling expenses.

2.8	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method except for those costs that 
are directly attributable to the construction or development of properties and assets under construction. This 
includes those costs on borrowings acquired specifically for the construction or development of properties and 
assets under construction, as well as those in relation to general borrowings used to finance the construction or 
development of properties and assets under construction.

2.9	 Prepaid leasehold properties

Prepaid leasehold properties are properties under operating leases where substantially all risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership are retained by the lessor. They are carried initially at cost and subsequently amortised 
on a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

2.10	 Investment properties

Investment properties comprise of acquired business hotels that are held for rental yields and/or for capital 
appreciation.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at fair value, determined annually 
by an independent and qualified valuer on the highest and best use basis. Changes in fair values are recognised 
in profit or loss.

Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major 
renovations and improvements is capitalised and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are 
recognised in profit or loss. The cost of maintenance, repairs and minor improvements is recognised in profit or 
loss when incurred.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
is recognised in profit or loss.

2.11	 Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in 
the Company’s statement of financial position. On disposal of such investments, the difference between disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.12	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment
Land held for development
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

Property, plant and equipment, land held for development and investments in subsidiaries and associated 
companies are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets 
may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell 
and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows 
that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in 
profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that 
this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated 
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss, unless the asset 
is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. However, to the 
extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously recognised as an expense, a reversal 
of that impairment is also recognised in profit or loss.

2.13	 Financial assets

(a)	 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables and 
available-for-sale. The classification depends on the nature of the asset and the purpose for which the 
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i)	 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those expected 
to be realised later than 12 months after the end of reporting period which are presented as non-
current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade and other receivables” and “cash and 
cash equivalents” on the statements of financial position.

(ii)	 Financial assets, available-for-sale

Financial assets, available-for-sale are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category 
or not classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the end of reporting period.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13	 Financial assets (continued)

(b)	 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date - the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale 
proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.

(c)	 Initial measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.

(d)	 Subsequent measurement

For financial assets, available-for-sale that are subsequently carried at fair value, changes in the fair values 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve. For equity 
investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be 
reliably measured, the investments are carried at cost less impairment losses. Loans and receivables are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest and dividend income on financial assets, available-for-sale are recognised separately in profit or 
loss. Changes in the fair values of available-for-sale debt securities (i.e. monetary items) denominated in 
foreign currencies are analysed into currency translation differences on the amortised cost of the securities 
and other changes; the currency translation differences, if any, are recognised in profit or loss and the 
other changes are recognised in the fair value reserve. Changes in fair values of available-for-sale equity 
securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the fair value reserve, together with the related currency translation differences. 

(e)	 Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such 
evidence exists.

(i)	 Loans and receivables

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, 
and default or significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are 
impaired.

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance 
account which is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset 
becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in profit or loss.

The allowance for impairment loss account is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent 
period when the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be objectively 
measured. The carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to the extent that the 
new carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost had no impairment been recognised in 
prior periods.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13	 Financial assets (continued)

(e)	 Impairment (continued)

(ii)	 Financial assets, available-for-sale

In addition to the objective evidence of impairment described in Note 2.13(e)(i), significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost and the disappearance of 
an active trading market for the security are objective evidence that the available-for-sale financial 
asset is impaired.

If any evidence of impairment exists, the cumulative loss that was previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is recognised to profit or loss. The cumulative loss is measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayments and amortisation) and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised as an expense. The impairment 
losses recognised as an expense on equity securities are not reversed through profit or loss.

2.14	 Non-current asset held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held-for-sale and carried at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. The assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as 
held-for-sale. Any impairment loss on initial classification and subsequent measurement is recognised as an 
expense. Any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell (not exceeding the accumulated impairment loss 
that has been previously recognised) is recognised in profit or loss.

2.15	 Borrowings

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value (net of transaction costs) and subsequently carried at amortised 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in 
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

2.16	 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). Otherwise, they are presented as non-current 
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

2.17	 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-counter 
securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted 
market prices used for financial assets are the current bid prices; the appropriate quoted market prices for 
financial liabilities are the current asking prices.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.17	 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at the end of each reporting period. Where appropriate quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments are used. Valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analyses, are also used to determine 
the fair values of the financial instruments.

The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying 
amounts.

2.18	 Operating lease

(a)	 When the Group is the lessee:

The Group leases office space, residential space and motor vehicles under operating leases from 
non-related parties.

Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessors are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from 
the lessors) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(b)	 When the Group is the lessor:

The Group leases commercial properties and investment properties under operating leases to non-related 
parties.

Leases of commercial properties and investment properties where the Group retains substantially all risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating 
leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased assets and recognised as an expense in profit or loss over the lease term on 
the same basis as the lease income.

Contingent rents are recognised as income in profit or loss when earned.

2.19	 Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered 
from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associated companies and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary difference and it is probably that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.19	 Income taxes (continued)

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i)	 at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period; and

(ii)	 based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of 
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss, except to the extent 
that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred 
tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

2.20	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount 
has been reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised in profit or 
loss as finance expense.

Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are recognised in profit or loss 
when the changes arise.

2.21	 Employee compensation

(a)	 Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund on a mandatory, contractual or 
voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
The Group’s contributions are recognised as employee compensation expense when they are due.

(b)	 Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to end of the 
reporting period.

2.22	 Currency translation

(a)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial 
statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the functional currency of the Company.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.22	 Currency translation (continued)

(b)	 Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation 
differences from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the end of the reporting period are 
recognised in profit or loss, unless they arise from borrowings in foreign currencies and net investment 
in foreign operations. Those currency translation differences are recognised in the currency translation 
reserve in the consolidated financial statements and transferred to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss 
on disposal of the foreign operation.

All foreign exchange gains and losses impacting profit or loss are presented in the income statement 
within “other gains/(losses), net”.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair values are determined.

(c)	 Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)	 Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the date of the end of the 
reporting period;

(ii)	 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions); and

(iii)	 All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the currency translation reserve.

2.23	 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker (“CODM”) whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments.

2.24	 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include 
cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions less restricted cash which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of change in value.

2.25	 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary 
shares are deducted against the share capital account.

2.26	 Dividends to Company’s shareholders

Dividends to Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for payment.
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3.	 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

3.1	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(a)	 Estimated net realisable value of the properties held for sale, properties developed for sale and non-current 
asset held for sale

Properties held for sale, properties developed for sale and non-current asset held for sale amounting to 
$71,561,000 (2014: $71,092,000) were subject to net realisable value tests at 31 December 2015. The net 
realisable values of properties held for sale had been determined based on a recent sale transaction. 
The net realisable values of properties developed for sale and non-current asset held for sale have been 
determined based on valuation performed by an independent valuer. The independent valuer used an 
average of the direct comparison method which involves the comparison of recently transacted sales 
of similar properties and also the income capitalisation method. Based on valuations, the management 
concluded that no write-down was required as at 31 December 2015.

(b)	 Fair value estimation of equity investment not quoted in an active market

In October 2015, the Group purchased an unquoted equity investment. The fair value of the unquoted 
equity instrument as at 31 December 2015 was determined to be the cost of investment, which is the 
recent transaction price. The Group also considered factors and assumptions that were based on market 
conditions existing at 31 December 2015.

Management believes that any change in the key assumptions used in the fair value estimation in the 
abovementioned method may cause the fair value to be different and the difference could be material to 
the financial statements.

3.2	 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

Fair valuation of financial asset, available-for-sale

The Group holds an unquoted debt investment that is not traded in an active market. The Group has obtained 
an independent valuation from a qualified valuer and used the discounted cash flow analysis for valuing the 
financial asset, available-for-sale. As there has been a significant decline in the fair value of the financial asset, 
available-for-sale, due to uncertain economic climate, management has exercised judgement and recognised 
a full impairment amounting to $5,497,000 as at 31 December 2015 to be reflective of the fair value of the 
unquoted debt investment.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of this debt investment classified as available-for-sale increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or 
loss, the impairment loss shall be reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss.

4.	 Revenue 
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Sale of properties developed for sale 4,897 15,971
Rendering of services 3,796 1,980
Rental income (Note 19) 14,196 15,415

Total sales 22,889 33,366
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5.	 Expenses by nature
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Purchases of properties developed for sale – 1,831
Purchases of properties held for sale and non-current asset held for sale 3,635 –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 23) 593 414
Amortisation of prepaid leasehold property (Note 21) 82 77
Rental expense on operating lease 280 337
Advertising 11 46
Professional fees 1,785 1,575
Employee compensation (Note 6) 4,493 3,817
Property and miscellaneous taxes 893 1,557
Transportation 222 202
Interest expense 3,582 3,524
Maintenance 2,528 3,794
Insurance 218 245
Write-down of property developed for sale – 2,113
Changes in properties (469) (14,201)

6.	 Employee compensation
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 4,361 3,702
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans
including Central Provident Fund 132 115

4,493 3,817

7.	 Other income
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Interest income 1,030 941
Rental income (on operating leases) 290 190
Other 159 216

1,479 1,347

8.	 Other gains/(losses), net 
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Fair value gain on investment properties (Note 19) – 22,704
Gain on disposal of investment properties 41,286 14,769
Gain on disposal of financial assets, available-for-sale 1,056 –
Impairment loss on financial assets, available-for- sale (5,506) (148)
Impairment loss on other assets (40) –
Currency translation gain/(loss) - net (282) 1,438
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 123 1
Others 1 (4)

36,638 38,760



IPC CORPORATION LTD AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 45

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

9.	 Income taxes 
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:
Profit from current financial year:
Foreign taxes
- Current income tax 11,036 1,291
- Deferred income tax (Note 26) 2,877 4,906

13,913 6,197

The tax on Group’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
Singapore standard rate of income tax as follows:

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Profit/(loss) before tax 38,961 37,070

Tax calculated at tax rate of 17% (2014: 17%) 6,623 6,302
Effects of
- different tax rates in other countries 1,419 1,480
- utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (615) (140)
- expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,904 890
- income not subject to tax (9,454) (4,834)
- deferred tax assets not recognised 1,010 1,834
- other taxes in other countries 13,026 665

Tax charge 13,913 6,197

The Group has tax losses of approximately $85.6 million (2014: $85.9 million) which includes development and 
expansion tax losses of $8.4 million (2014: $8.4 million) and unutilised tax losses of $77.2 million (2014: $77.5 
million) that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose for 
which no deferred tax asset is recognised due to uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is 
subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of 
the respective countries in which the companies operate. Tax losses incurred by subsidiaries of $6,721,000 (2014: 
$7,008,000) can be carried forward for a period of up to five years subsequent to the year of the loss, while the 
remaining tax losses have no expiry date.

10.	 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Total
2015 2014

(Restated)

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company ($’000) 21,891 28,634
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for 
	basic earnings per share (’000) 85,292 85,292*
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 25.67 33.57*

* 	 On 9 June 2015, the Company completed the share consolidation of every ten ordinary shares into one ordinary share in the capital 
of the Company, with fractional entitlements to be disregarded. The share consolidation was approved at the Extraordinary General 
Meeting on 28 April 2015. The number of shares used for prior period calculation of earnings per share was adjusted for the share 
consolidation in order to provide a comparable basis for the current financial year.

The basic earnings per share are the same as the diluted earnings per share as there are no dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.
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11.	 Cash and cash equivalents 
Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and on hand 87,488 43,102 17,623 766
Short-term bank deposits 80,904 58,209 84,613 52,931

168,392 101,311 102,236 53,697

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated cash and cash 
equivalents comprise the following: 

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances 168,392 101,311
Less: Bank deposits pledged (6,000) (35,747)

Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated
statement of cash flows 162,392 65,564

Certain bank deposits are pledged in relation to the security granted for some borrowings (Note 25).

12.	 Trade and other receivables - current 
Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables
- Non-related parties 228 1,871 171 191

Deposits 282 225 115 111
Prepayments 170 400 – 1
Other receivables - non-related parties 9,339 1,979 – –

10,019 4,475 286 303

13.	 Properties developed for sale
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Land cost 30,843 29,794
Development expenditure 37,412 41,298

68,255 71,092
Less: Transferred to non-current asset held for sale (Note 15) (47,080) –

21,175 71,092
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13.	 Properties developed for sale (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s properties developed for sale are held by IPC Property Development 
(Zhuhai) Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which is incorporated in the People’s Republic of China.

The details of the Group’s properties developed for sale as at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Name of property Location
Type of

development
Site area

sq.m.

Gross
floor area
held-for-

sale
sq.m.

Attributable
interest

Xu Ri Wan Hua Yuan
	Kindergarten

Tang Jia Tang
	Qi Lu, Zhuhai,
	China

Commercial 1,038 2,727 100%

Xu Ri Wan Hua Yuan 1-3 Zu Tuan,
	Zhuhai, China

Residential
car park

2,646 2,646 100%

Xu Ri Wan Hua Yuan 4-5 Zu Tuan,
	Zhuhai, China

Residential
car park

2,144 2,144 100%

14.	 Properties held for sale
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Properties held for sale 3,306 -

On 18 August 2015, 5 office units from a project in Foshan were purchased. The office units have been classified 
as properties held for sale which is in line with management’s intention to sell.

The details of the Group’s properties held for sale as at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Name of property Location
Type of

development
Site area

sq.m.

Gross
floor area
held-for-

sale
sq.m.

Attributable
interest

Yi Neng Guo Ji Guang 
	Chang

Foshan Shi, Nan 
	Hai Qu Gui Cheng

Commercial 1,218 1,218 100%

15.	 Non-current asset held for sale
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Non-current asset held for sale 47,080 –
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15.	 Non-current asset held for sale (continued)

The details of the Group’s non-current asset held for sale as at 31 December 2015 are as follows: 

Name of property Location
Type of

development
Site area

sq.m.

Gross
floor area
held-for-

sale
sq.m.

Attributable
interest

Xu Ri Wan Hua Yuan Tang Jia Tang
	Qi Lu, Zhuhai,
	China

Hotel/
Commercial

2,752 16,237 100%

Management has reclassified $47,080,000 of properties developed for sale to non-current asset held for sale on 
1 July 2015. The sale is highly probable and is expected to be completed within 12 months. No impairment loss 
was recognised as at 31 December 2015.

Bank borrowings are secured on the non-current asset held for sale (2014: property developed for sale (Note 13)) 
in China with carrying amounts of $47,080,000 (2014: $44,005,000) (Note 25).

16.	 Financial assets, available-for-sale 
Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 22,092 21,319 13,480 12,717
Currency translation differences 199 163 – –
Additions 3,723 343 903 343
Impairment loss recognised in profit and loss (5,506) (148) – –
Fair value gains recognised in
other comprehensive income 634 415 634 420

Disposals (8,238) – (4,978) –

End of financial year 12,904 22,092 10,039 13,480

Financial assets, available-for-sale are analysed as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Listed securities
- equity securities - Asia Pacific 45 54 – –
- bond funds - Asia Pacific 1,019 1,884 1,019 1,884
- bond funds - Europe 8,918 11,047 8,918 11,047
- bond funds - Eurasia – 447 – 447

Unlisted securities
- debt investments - Asia Pacific – 8,558 – –
- equity securities - United States 2,820 – – –
- equity securities - Asia Pacific 102 102 102 102

12,904 22,092 10,039 13,480

Bank borrowings were secured on certain financial assets, available-for-sale, of the Group and of the Company 
with fair value amounts of $13,378,000 (Note 25) for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.
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17.	 Other receivables - non-current

The loans to subsidiaries amounting to $61,405,000 (2014: $60,253,000) are treated as a long-term source of 
additional capital and financing within the Group. Accordingly, they are managed centrally and deemed to be 
quasi-equity loans representing the Company’s net investments in the subsidiaries. The carrying amount of the 
remaining loan to subsidiaries amounting to $1,827,000 (2014: $26,000) approximates to its fair value.

Company
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Other receivables
- Loans to subsidiaries 63,232 60,279

The loans to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and are not expected to be repaid in the next twelve months 
except of a loan to a subsidiary amounting to $1,816,000 (2014: Nil) with interest bearing of 5% per annum.

18.	 Investments in associated companies 
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Beginning and end of financial year – –

Company
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Equity investment at cost
Beginning and end of financial year 500 500

Accumulated impairment losses
Beginning and end of financial year 500 500

Net carrying amount – –

The summarised financial information of associated
companies are as follows:
- Liabilities 12,450 12,451
- Net profit/(loss) – (1)

The Group has not recognised its share of profit (2014: share of loss) of associated companies amounting to $22 
(2014: $535) because the Group’s cumulative share of losses exceeds its interests in those entities and the Group 
has no obligation in respect of those losses. The cumulative unrecognised losses amount to $6,725,287 (2014: 
$6,725,309) at the end of the reporting period.

Details and changes of significant associated companies are provided in Note 39.



IPC CORPORATION LTD AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES50

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

19.	 Investment properties 
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 118,081 116,772
Currency translation differences (1,035) (8,461)
Disposal (117,046) (12,934)
Net fair value gain recognised in profit or loss (Note 8) – 22,704

End of financial year – 118,081

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period
	included in profit or loss assets held at the end of
	the financial year, under “Other gains/(losses), net” – 22,704

Investment properties were carried at fair values at the end of the previous financial year as determined by an 
independent and qualified valuer. Valuations were made annually based on the properties’ highest-and-best-use 
using the Income Approach.

Investment properties were leased to non-related parties under operating leases (Note 32(b)).

Bank borrowings were secured on investment properties of the Group with fair value amounts of $118,081,000 
(Note 25) for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

All the investment properties have been disposed off for total proceeds of $158,332,000 during December 2015. 
The Group does not carry any investment properties as at 31 December 2015.

The following amounts are recognised in profit and loss: 
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Rental income (Note 4) 14,196 15,415
Direct operating expenses arising from:
- Investment properties that generate rental income 2,786 5,863

Contingent rents amounting to $8,303,000 (2014: $6,763,000) has been recognised as income by the Group 
during the financial year (Note 32(b)).  

Fair value measurement at
31 December 2014

using

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical assets

(Level 1)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

$’000 $’000 $’000

Description
Recurring fair value measurement investment properties:
- Business Hotels – – 118,081

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event 
or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

There were no transfers into or out of fair value hierarchy levels for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.
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19.	 Investment properties (continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements

The following table presents the valuation techniques and key inputs that were used to determine the fair value 
of investment properties categorised under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Description

Fair value at
31 December

2014
Valuation

techniques(s)

Significant 
unobservable

inputs

Range of
unobservable

inputs

Relationship of 
unobservable

inputs to fair value

($’000)

Business 
	hotels

118,081 Average of 
DCA

and DCF

Capitalisation 
rate

Discount rate

Terminal 
capitalisation 
rate

Average rental
(per room per 
month)

Length of lease 
in place
(years)

Net cash flow

Age of building 
(years)

6.1% - 8.5%

5.9% - 7.2%

6.3% - 9.0%

$419 - $1,550

1y - 6y

$0.6 million -
$2.3 million

21y - 39y

The higher the 
capitalisation rate, the 
lower the valuation.

The higher the discount 
rate, the lower the
valuation.

The higher the terminal 
capitalisation rate, the
lower the valuation.

The higher the average 
rental, the higher the
valuation.

The longer the length of 
lease in place, the higher
the valuation.

The higher the net cash 
flow, the higher the
valuation.

The higher the age of the 
building, the lower the
valuation.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group engaged external, independent and qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the Group’s 
properties at the end of every financial year based on the properties’ highest and best use. In the previous 
financial year, the fair values of the properties had been determined by an independent and qualified valuer. 
The Group does not carry any investment properties as at 31 December 2015.

The Group reviewed the valuations required for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair values. The 
finance department reports directly to the Finance Director (“FD”). Discussion of valuation processes and results 
are held between the FD, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), the Managing Director (“MD”) and the Audit 
Committee (“AC”) at least annually, in line with the Group’s reporting date.
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20.	 Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 98,827 106,059
Capital injection to existing subsidiary 3,456 –
Impairment (3,705) –
Return of capital (15,794) (7,232)

End of financial year 82,784 98,827

Details of all subsidiaries are listed in Note 39.

(a)	 During the financial year, the TK operators returned net investment amounting to $15,794,000 (2014: 
$7,232,000) to the Company.

(b)	 As at 31 December 2014, the Company holds 25% interest of Zhuhai Costa Del Sol Grand nest HOTEL 
Management Co. Ltd (“Costa”) as an associated company. During the financial year 2015, the Company 
further injected $3,456,000 into Costa such that the Company now holds 75% interest of Costa. The 
remaining 25% interest are held by IPC Property Development (Zhuhai) Ltd. At the Group level, there is 
no change in its ownership interest in Costa.

The Group’s subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest are as follows:

Name Principal activities

Country of
business/

incorporation

Equity holding
held by parent
and the Group

Equity holding
held by

non-controlling
interest

2015 2014 2015 2014
% % % %

Palladio Hospitality LLC Investment in
income producing
assets

Japan 89 89 11 11

Palladio Hospitality One LLC Investment in
income producing
assets

Japan 89 89 11 11

Palladio Hospitality Two LLC Investment in
income producing
assets

Japan 97 97 3 3

Carrying value of non-controlling interests

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Palladio Hospitality LLC 1,670 2,133
Palladio Hospitality One LLC 1,048 1,440
Palladio Hospitality Two LLC 1,974 863
Subsidiary with immaterial non-controlling interests 6 328

4,698 4,764



IPC CORPORATION LTD AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 53

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

20.	 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest

Set out below are the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has material non-controlling 
interest. These are presented before inter-company eliminations.

There were no transactions with non-controlling interests for the financial years ended 31 December 2015 and 
2014.

Summarised statements of financial position

Palladio Hospitality
LLC

Palladio Hospitality
One LLC

Palladio Hospitality
Two LLC

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current
Assets 36,060 2,536 17,288 4,140 43,435 30,410
Liabilities (26,961) (13,839) (8,559) (2,462) (13,807) (4,035)

Total current net assets/
	(liabilities) 9,099 (11,303) 8,729 1,678 29,628 26,375

Non-current
Assets – 35,363 – 24,046 – 58,676
Liabilities – (4,340) – (12,418) – (26,280)

Total non-current net assets – 31,023 – 11,628 – 32,396

Net assets 9,099 19,720 8,729 13,306 29,628 58,771

Summarised statements of comprehensive income

Palladio Hospitality
LLC

Palladio Hospitality
One LLC

Palladio Hospitality
Two LLC

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue 3,310 3,143 2,410 2,779 8,475 9,493
Profit before income tax 11,072 14,623 590 2,213 36,885 27,939
Income tax credit/(expense) 3,972 (3,346) 2,160 (309) 3,243 (1,551)

Post-tax profit from
continuing operations 15,044 11,277 2,750 1,904 40,128 26,388

Total comprehensive income
allocated to non-controlling
interests 1,657 1,262 296 235 1,204 792

Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests 2,167 275 620 178 383 20
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20.	 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Summarised cash flows 
Palladio Hospitality 

LLC
Palladio Hospitality 

One LLC
Palladio Hospitality

Two LLC
2015 2015 2015
$’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 27,442 5,353 12,493
Income tax paid (14) (8) (261)

Net cash generated from operating activities 27,428 5,345 12,232

Net cash used in financing activities (39,267) (18,969) (94,829)

Net cash generated from investing activities 45,392 23,681 66,330

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 33,553 10,057 (16,267)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,330 4,120 27,406
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents 61 110 722

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 35,944 14,287 11,861

2014 2014 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 2,460 2,272 5,560
Income tax paid (13) (7) (22)

Net cash generated from operating activities  2,447 2,265 5,538

Net cash used in financing activities (2,114) (1,931) (12,122)

Net cash generated from investing activities - - 27,704

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 333 334 21,120
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,102 3,985 6,617
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents (105) (199) (331)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,330 4,120 27,406

21.	 Prepaid leasehold properties
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 4,243 4,202
Currency translation differences 113 118
Amortisation recognised in profit or loss (Note 5) (82) (77)

End of financial year 4,274 4,243

Bank borrowings were secured on prepaid leasehold properties of the Group with carrying amounts of $4,243,000 
(Note 25) for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

22.	 Land held for development 
Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Beginning and end of financial year 6,422 6,422 6,422 6,422
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22.	 Land held for development (continued)

Details of the Group’s and the Company’s land held for development as at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Name of property Location
Type of

development
Stage of

completion
Site area

sq.m.

Gross floor area
held-for-

development
sq.m.

Attributable
interest

Ju Ren Da Sha Xiang Zhou Yin
Hua Lu, Zhuhai,
China

Office Not
Commenced

29,045 NA 24%

23.	 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land,
building and

improvements
$’000

Furniture,
fixtures and

fittings
$’000

Motor vehicles
$’000

Office 
equipment

$’000
Total
$’000

Group
2015
Cost
Beginning of financial year 7,982 800 685 585 10,052
Currency translation differences 141 8 3 8 160
Additions 1,063 136 1,652 20 2,871

Disposals – – (486) (4) (490)

End of financial year 9,186 944 1,854 609 12,593

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 1,279 685 443 459 2,866
Currency translation differences 22 6 3 6 37
Depreciation charge (Note 5) 240 123 198 32 593
Disposals – – (372) (1) (373)

End of financial year 1,541 814 272 496 3,123

Net book value
End of financial year 7,645 130 1,582 113 9,470

2014
Cost
Beginning of financial year 7,726 526 681 508 9,441
Currency translation differences 155 13 4 10 182
Additions 101 261 – 105 467

Disposals – – – (38) (38)

End of financial year 7,982 800 685 585 10,052

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 1,130 517 332 461 2,440
Currency translation differences 27 9 3 8 47
Depreciation charge (Note 5) 122 159 108 25 414
Disposals – – – (35) (35)

End of financial year 1,279 685 443 459 2,866

Net book value
End of financial year 6,703 115 242 126 7,186

Bank borrowings were secured on certain leasehold building of the Group with carrying amount of $6,703,000 
(Note 25) for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.
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23.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Furniture,
fixtures and

fittings
$’000

Motor
vehicles

$’000

Office
equipment

$’000
Total
$’000

Company
2015
Cost
Beginning of financial year 343 242 123 708
Additions – 1,564 – 1,564
Disposals – (242) – (242)

End of financial year 343 1,564 123 2,030

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 343 149 123 615
Depreciation charge – 142 – 142
Disposals – (186) – (186)

End of financial year 343 105 123 571

Net book value
End of financial year – 1,459 – 1,459

2014
Cost
Beginning and end of
financial year 343 242 123 708

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 343 100 123 566
Depreciation charge – 49 – 49

End of financial year 343 149 123 615

Net book value
End of financial year – 93 – 93

24.	 Trade and other payables 
Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables to
- Non-related parties 166 137 – –
- Associated companies 663 663 – –
- Subsidiaries – – 24 24

829 800 24 24

Deposits received 14,872 2,089 – –
Accrued operating expenses 13,040 5,618 3,474 1,342

28,741 8,507 3,498 1,366
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25.	 Borrowings 
Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current
- Bank borrowings (secured) 10,940 64,197 5,326 40,923

Non-current
- Bank borrowings (secured) 3,937 39,230 – –

Total borrowings 14,877 103,427 5,326 40,923

The exposure of the borrowings of the Group and of the Company to interest rate changes and the contractual 
repricing dates at the end of the reporting date are as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Less than 1 year 10,940 64,197 5,326 40,923
1 - 5 years 3,937 39,230 – –

(a)	 Security granted

Borrowings of $14,877,000 are secured by pledge of certain bank deposits (Note 11) and a non-current 
asset held for sale (Note 15) in Zhuhai, China.

Borrowings of $103,427,000 were secured by pledge of prepaid leasehold property (Note 21), leasehold 
building (Note 23) and a property developed for sale (Note 13) in Zhuhai, China, investment properties in 
Japan (Note 19), certain bank deposits (Note 11) and certain financial assets, available-for-sale (Note 16) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014. 

(b)	 Fair value of non-current borrowings

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Bank borrowings 3,581 38,136

The fair value above is within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and is determined from the cash flow 
analysis, discounted at market borrowing rates of an equivalent instrument at end of reporting period 
which the directors expect to be available to the Group as follows:

Group
2015 2014

Bank borrowings 7.23% 3.24%
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26.	 Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same 
fiscal authority. The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement of financial 
position as follows:

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Deferred income tax liabilities
- to be settled after one year 2,877 10,392

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction) 
is as follows:

Group
Deferred income tax liabilities

Withholding
tax on

unremitted
earnings

$’000
2015
Beginning of financial year 10,392
Utilised during the year (10,392)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 9) 2,877

End of financial year 2,877

2014
Beginning of financial year 6,035
Charged to profit or loss (Note 9) 4,906
Currency translation differences (549)

End of financial year 10,392

27.	 Share capital 
No. of

ordinary
shares

Amount

Issued share
capital

Share
capital

’000 $’000

Group and Company

2015
Beginning of financial year 852,921 169,658
End of financial year 85,292* 169,658

2014
Beginning and end of financial year 852,921 169,658

All issued shares are fully paid.

*	 On 9 June 2015, the Company completed the share consolidation of every ten ordinary shares into one ordinary share in the capital of 

the Company, with fractional entitlements to be disregarded.

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and when declared by the 
Company.
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28.	 Fair value reserve 
Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 1,820 1,395 1,249 829
Fair value gains on financial assets, 
	available-for-sale (Note 16) 634 415 634 420
Reclassification (1,961) – (1,376) –
Currency translation differences 14 10 – –

End of financial year 507 1,820 507 1,249

29.	 Retained earnings

All retained earnings of the Group and the Company are distributable.

30.	 Dividends 
Group and Company

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Ordinary dividends paid
First and final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend paid in
respect of the previous financial year of 0.25 cents (2014: 0.25 cents)
per share and special tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.35 cents (2014: 
0.10 cents) per share before the share consolidation on 9 June 2015 5,118 2,985

31.	 Contingencies

Contingent liabilities

Group

IPC Property Development (Zhuhai) Ltd (“IPC Zhuhai”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is the 
developer of residential and commercial projects. It is customary for financial institutions in China to require the 
developers to provide counter-guarantees for mortgage loans extended to buyers of the developers’ properties.

Under the counter-guarantee provided by IPC Zhuhai to financial institutions in China, any default on the 
mortgage loan by the mortgagee will require IPC Zhuhai to pay to the financial institutions the balance amount 
unrecovered from proceeds of the property sold and other legal recovering proceedings against the mortgagee.

These guarantees will be released upon the issuance of the real estate ownership certificate to buyers and 
issuance of certificate of mortgage register for real estate ownership to the banks for mortgaged loans entered 
after 1 January 2005. For mortgage loans entered before 1 January 2005, the guarantees will be released upon 
the settlement of mortgaged loans between the banks and buyers.

 
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Guarantee given to banks for mortgage facilities
granted to IPC Zhuhai’s properties 217 319
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32.	 Commitments

(a)	 Operating lease commitments - where the Group is a lessee

The Group and Company leases office space, hostels and motor vehicles from non-related parties under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. These leases have varying terms and renewal rights.

The future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of the 
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Not later than one year 266 319
Between one and five years 451 34

717 353

(b)	 Operating lease commitments - where the Group is a lessor

In the financial year 2014, the Group leased out business hotels, kindergarten and supermarket to non-related 
parties under non-cancellable operating leases. The lessees are required to either pay a fixed monthly amount 
over the lease period, or contingent rent in addition to fixed monthly amount based on profits or sales achieved 
during the lease period.

		  All the business hotels in Japan had been disposed off during financial year 31 December 2015.

The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of 
reporting period but not recognised as receivables, are as follows:

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Not later than one year 272 6,089
Between one and five years 1,001 17,514
Later than five years 545 1,965

1,818 25,568

33.	 Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability 
of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance.

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk management for 
the Group. The detailed policies such as authority levels, oversight responsibilities, risk identification and measurement 
and exposure limits are established in accordance with the objectives and underlying principles approved by the Board 
of Directors.

(a)	 Market risk

(i)	 Currency risk

The Group operates mainly in Asia, with dominant operations in Singapore, the People’s Republic of 
China and Japan. Entities in the Group regularly transact in the currencies other than their respective 
functional currencies (“foreign currencies”) such as the Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), Chinese Yuan or 
Renminbi (“RMB”) and Japanese Yen (“JPY”).

Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group does not enter into any arrangements or contracts to manage its foreign currency risk 
arising from cash flows from anticipated transactions and financial arrangements denominated in 
foreign currencies, primarily the JPY, RMB, Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”) and United States Dollar (“USD”). 
Consequently, transactions are subjected to the fluctuation of foreign currencies.
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33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(a)	 Market risk (continued)

(i)	 Currency risk (continued)

In addition, the Group is exposed to currency translation risk on the net assets in foreign operations. 
Currency exposure to the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations in Japan and the People’s Republic 
of China are managed primarily by borrowings and operating cash flows denominated in JPY, RMB and 
HKD, which mitigate currency exposure arising from the subsidiaries’ net assets.

The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

SGD USD JPY RMB HKD Others Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December 2015
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents and
financial assets, available-for-sale 80,900 33,565 65,495 738 535 63 181,296

Trade and other receivables 198 106 9,461 84 – – 9,849

81,098 33,671 74,956 822 535 63 191,145

Financial liabilities
Borrowings – – 3,510 9,551 1,816 – 14,877
Trade and other payables 2,101 – 25,060 1,454 126 – 28,741

2,101 – 28,570 11,005 1,942 – 43,618

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 78,997 33,671 46,386 (10,183) (1,407) 63 147,527

Net financial liabilities/(assets)
	denominated in the respective
entities’ functional currencies (78,997) – (48,949) 10,183 124 – (117,639)

Currency exposure – 33,671 (2,563) – (1,283) 63 29,888

At 31 December 2014
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents and
financial assets, available-for-sale 33,898 37,949 39,876 11,128 504 48 123,403

Trade and other receivables 352 – 3,658 65 – – 4,075

34,250 37,949 43,534 11,193 504 48 127,478

Financial liabilities
Borrowings – – 89,046 14,381 – – 103,427
Trade and other payables 2,035 – 4,718 1,636 118 – 8,507

2,035 – 93,764 16,017 118 – 111,934

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 32,215 37,949 (50,230) (4,824) 386 48 15,544

Net financial liabilities/(assets)
	denominated in the respective
entities’ functional currencies (32,215) – 9,460 4,824 118 – (17,813)

Currency exposure – 37,949 (40,770) – 504 48 (2,269)
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33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(a)	 Market risk (continued)

(i)	 Currency risk (continued)

The Company’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows:

SGD USD JPY RMB HKD Others Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December 2015
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents and
financial assets, available-for-sale 80,090 28,639 3,013 – 533 – 112,275

Trade and other receivables 180 106 – 61,405 1,827 – 63,518

80,270 28,745 3,013 61,405 2,360 – 175,793

Financial liabilities
Borrowings – – 3,510 – 1,816 – 5,326
Trade and other payables 1,431 – 2,067 – – – 3,498

1,431 – 5,577 – 1,816 – 8,824

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 78,839 28,745 (2,564) 61,405 544 – 166,969

Net financial liabilities/(assets)
	denominated in the respective
entities’ functional currencies (78,839) – – – – – (78,839)

Currency exposure – 28,745 (2,564) 61,405 544 – 88,130

At 31 December 2014
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents and
financial assets, available-for-sale 33,122 33,352 153 – 502 48 67,177

Trade and other receivables 328 – – 60,254 – – 60,582

33,450 33,352 153 60,254 502 48 127,759

Financial liabilities
Borrowings – – 40,923 – – – 40,923
Trade and other payables 1,366 – – – – – 1,366

1,366 – 40,923 – – – 42,289

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 32,084 33,352 (40,770) 60,254 502 48 85,470

Net financial liabilities/(assets)
	denominated in the respective
entities’ functional currencies (32,084) – – – – – (32,084)

Currency exposure – 33,352 (40,770) 60,254 502 48 53,386
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33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(a)	 Market risk (continued)

(i)	 Currency risk (continued)

If the USD, RMB, JPY and HKD strengthen against the SGD by 8% (2014: 1%), 6% (2014: 1%), 6% 
(2014: 8%) and 8% (2014: 1%) respectively with all other variables including tax rate being held 
constant, the effects arising from the net financial asset/(liability) position will be as follows:

2015 2014
Increase/(decrease)

Profit
after tax

Other
comprehensive

income
Profit

after tax

Other
comprehensive

income
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
USD against SGD 2,694 – 379 –

RMB against SGD – (611) – (48)

JPY against SGD (154) 2,937 (3,262) (757)

HKD against SGD (103) (10) 5 (1)

Company
USD against SGD 2,300 – 334 –

RMB against SGD 3,684 – 603 –

JPY against SGD (154) – (3,262) –

HKD against SGD 44 – 5 –

The weakening of USD, RMB, JPY and HKD against the SGD by 8% (2014: 1%), 6% (2014: 1%), 
6% (2014: 8%) and 8% (2014: 1%) respectively had the equal but opposite effect to the amounts 
shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

(ii)	 Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities, bond funds and debt investments price risks arising from 
the investments held by the Group which are classified in the statement of financial position as 
financial assets, available-for-sale. These financial assets are either listed or non-listed. The Group 
is not exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity 
securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance 
with the limits set by the Board of Directors.
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33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(a)	 Market risk (continued)

(ii)	 Price risk (continued)

If prices for listed equity securities, listed bond funds, fair value of unlisted debt investments and 
fair value of unlisted equity investments increased by 10% (2014: 12%), 3% (2014: 2%), 4% (2014: 
4%) and 3% (2014: 3%) respectively with all other variables including tax rate being held constant, 
the profit after tax and equity will be:

2015 2014
Increase/(decrease)

Profit
after tax

Other
comprehensive

income
Profit

after tax

Other
comprehensive

income
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Listed in Asia
	Pacific – 35 – 52
Listed in Europe – 268 – 265
Listed in Eurasia – – – 11
Unlisted in Asia
	Pacific – – – 342
Unlisted in United 
States – 85 – –

Unlisted in Asia 
Pacific – 3 – 3

Company
Listed in Asia
	Pacific – 35 – 45
Listed in Europe – 268 – 265
Listed in Eurasia – – – 11
Unlisted in Asia 
Pacific – 3 – 3

A 10% (2014: 12%) weakening on the price of the listed equity securities, 3% (2014: 2%) weakening 
in listed bond funds, 4% (2014: 4%) weakening on fair value of unlisted debt investments and 3% 
(2014: 3%) weakening on unlisted equity investments would have had the equal but opposite 
effect to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. This 
assumes that the decrease does not give rise to impairment.

(iii)	 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that 
the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The 
Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its fixed deposits and certain 
borrowings. 
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33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(a)	 Market risk (continued)

(iii)	 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks (continued)

The Group’s fixed deposits and borrowings exposed to changes in interest rates on which effective 
hedges have not been entered into are denominated in SGD, USD, RMB and JPY. At 31 December 
2015, if SGD, USD, RMB and JPY interest rate has increased/decreased by 0.5% (2014: 0.5%), 
0.5% (2014: 0.5%), 0.5% (2014: 0.5%) and 0.5% (2014: 0.5%) respectively with all other variables 
including tax rate being held constant, the profit after tax for the year would have been higher/
lower by $325,000 (2014: $157,000), higher/lower by $113,000 (2014: $134,000), lower/higher by 
$48,000 (2014: $72,000) and lower/higher by $18,000 (2014: $205,000).

Financial assets, available-for-sale and other financial assets and liabilities do not have material 
interest rate risk.

(b)	 Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well 
as credit exposures to customers. For banks and financial institutions, deposits are placed with regulated 
banks. For credit exposures to customers, management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking 
into account its financial position, past experience and other factors.

Financial assets, available-for-sale of the Group mainly comprises of 8 counterparties (2014: 10) that 
represented 91% (2014: 85%) of financial assets, available-for-sale.

The trade and other receivables of the Group mainly comprise 10 debtors (2014: 15 debtors) that represent 
94% (2014: 82%) of trade and other receivables. The Company does not have significant concentration of 
debtors, in both 2015 and 2014.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that 
class of financial instruments presented on the statement of financial position.

The Group’s and Company’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade and other 
receivables. The credit risk for trade and other receivables based on the information provided to key 
management is as follows: 

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

By geographical area
Singapore 305 471 286 302
Japan 9,460 3,539 – –
People’s Republic of China 84 65 – –

9,849 4,075 286 302

By types of customers
Non-related parties
- Other companies 9,841 4,060 286 302
- Individuals 8 15 – –

9,849 4,075 286 302
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33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (continued)

(i)	 Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits with banks and financial 
institutions which are regulated by local monetary authorities. Trade and other receivables that 
are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies or individuals with a good collection 
track record with the Group.

(ii)	 Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired

There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade and 
other receivables.

The age analysis of trade and other receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Past due < 3 months 96 81 – –
Past due 3 to 6 months – – – –
Past due over 6 months 12 10 – –

108 91 – –

There are no trade and other receivables individually determined to be impaired.

(c)	 Liquidity risk

The Group and Company manages its liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by management to finance their normal operating commitments and to mitigate 
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group and Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on 
demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 60 days, this excludes the potential impact 
of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted. At the end of the reporting period, assets 
held by the Group and the Company for managing liquidity risk included cash and fixed deposits as 
disclosed in Note 11.

The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group and the Company into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the end of reporting period to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances 
due within 12 months equal their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

Less than
1 year

Between
1 and 2
years

Between
2 and 5
years

Over
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
At 31 December 2015
Trade and other payables 28,741 – – –
Borrowings 10,940 4,222 – –

At 31 December 2014
Trade and other payables 8,507 – – –
Borrowings 64,197 18,381 25,016 –

Company
At 31 December 2015
Trade and other payables 3,498 – – –
Borrowings 5,326 – – –

At 31 December 2014
Trade and other payables 1,366 – – –
Borrowings 40,923 – – –

(d)	 Capital risk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. In order to 
maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell 
assets to reduce borrowings. Management monitors capital based on shareholders’ equity.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirement.

(e)	 Fair value measurements

The following table presents assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the 
following fair value measurement hierarchy:

(a)	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b)	 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c)	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3).



IPC CORPORATION LTD AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES68

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(e)	 Fair value measurements (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2015
Assets
Available-for-sale financial
	assets
- Equity securities – – 2,967 2,967
- Bond funds 9,937 – – 9,937

Total assets 9,937 – 2,967 12,904

2014
Assets
Available-for-sale financial
	assets
- Equity securities 54 – 102 156
- Debt investments – – 8,558 8,558
- Bond funds 13,378 – – 13,378

Total assets 13,432 – 8,660 22,092

Company
2015
Assets
Available-for-sale financial
	assets
- Equity securities – – 102 102
- Bond funds 9,937 – – 9,937

Total assets 9,937 – 102 10,039

2014
Assets
Available-for-sale financial
	assets
- Equity securities – – 102 102
- Bond funds 13,378 – – 13,378

Total assets 13,378 – 102 13,480

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale 
securities) is determined based on quoted current bid prices at the end of the reporting period. These 
instruments are included in Level 1.
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33.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(e)	 Fair value measurements (continued)

Level 3 equity securities held by the Group mainly consist of an unquoted equity investments purchased in 
October 2015. The fair valuation of the Level 3 equity instrument is described in Note 3.1.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Group transferred a quoted equity security from 
Level 1 to Level 3 due to the suspension of the trading of the quoted equity security during the financial 
year.

The Group uses quoted market price and engages external, independent and qualified valuer to determine 
the fair value of the Group’s financial assets available-for-sale at the end of every financial year. Where 
it is not practical to determine the fair value of the unquoted debt investment, the Group will exercise 
judgement on the fair value of the investment.

The Group reviews the valuations required for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair values. 
The finance department reports directly to the FD. Discussion of valuation processes and results are held 
between the FD, the CEO, the MD and the AC at least annually, in line with the Group’s reporting dates.

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments of the Group:

2015 2014 2015 2014
Equity Equity Debt Debt

investments investments investments investments
available-
for-sale

available-
for-sale

available-
for-sale

available-
for-sale

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Beginning of financial
	year 102 102 8,558 8,395
Additions 2,820 – – –
Transfers 45 – – –
Disposal – – (3,260) –
Impairment – – (5,497) –
Currency translation
	differences – – 199 163

End of financial year 2,967 102 – 8,558

(f)	 Financial instruments by category

The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments is as disclosed on the face of the 
statements of financial position and in Note 16 to the financial statements, except for the following:

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Loans and receivables 178,241 105,386 165,754 114,278

Financial liabilities at 
	amortised cost 43,618 111,934 8,824 42,289
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34.	 Related party transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took 
place between the Group and related parties at terms agreed between the parties:

(a)	 Sales and purchases of goods and services

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Rental income received from a related party* 72 72
Administration fee received from a related party* 10 10

* Related party refers to a company with common directors.

(b)	 Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 2,837 2,645
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans, 
including Central Provident Fund 38 45

2,875 2,690

35.	 Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker (“CODM”) that are used to make strategic decisions. The CODM comprises the Chief Executive 
Officer, the Managing Director and the Administration and Finance Director.

The CODM considers the business from both a geographic and business segment perspective. Geographically, 
management manages and monitors the business in three primary geographic areas namely People’s Republic 
of China, Japan and Singapore. All the geographic areas are engaged primarily in the property related business, 
which includes properties and income producing assets.

Business under “Properties” relate to property development, investing and reselling of properties. Business 
under “Income producing assets” relate primarily to investments in hospitality assets. Other services included 
within Singapore include investment holding and the sale and distribution of telecommunication products. The 
results of these operations are included in the “Other” column.
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35.	 Segment information (continued)

The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable segments is as follows:

 

Income 
Producing 

Assets  Properties Properties Other Total

  Japan Japan

People’s 
Republic of 

China Singapore   
S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Group
2015
Revenue and other income
- external sales 14,196 4,897 3,796 – 22,889
- other income 3 2 239 1,235 1,479

14,199 4,899 4,035 1,235 24,368

Cost of revenue and operating 
expenses (6,939) (4,831) (5,109) (5,166) (22,045)

Other gains/(losses), net 41,286 – (4,783) 135 36,638

Profit/(loss) before income tax 48,546 68 (5,857) (3,796) 38,961

Total assets 71,437 507 84,895 126,370 283,209

Total assets include:
Additions to:
- property, plant and equipment – – 1,307 1,564 2,871

2014
Revenue and other income
- external sales 15,415 15,971 1,980 – 33,366
- other income 128 2 130 1,087 1,347

15,543 15,973 2,110 1,087 34,713

Cost of revenue and operating
expenses (8,870) (18,973) (3,884) (4,676) (36,403)

Other gains/(losses), net 37,473 – (4) 1,291 38,760

Profit/(loss) before income tax 44,146 (3,000) (1,778) (2,298) 37,070

Total assets 155,170 10,928 89,355 79,665 335,118

Total assets include:
Additions to:
- property, plant and equipment – – 467 – 467
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35.	 Segment information (continued)

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of profit before tax.

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:
Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Segment assets for reportable segments 283,209 335,118
Other segment assets
Unallocated:
- Tax recoverable 675 802
- Deferred income tax assets – 1

283,884 335,921

Revenue from major products and services

Revenue from external customers are derived mainly from the sale of properties, provision of property consulting 
services and rental income from hospitality assets.

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Income producing assets 14,196 15,415
Properties 8,693 17,951

22,889 33,366

Geographical information

The Group’s business segments operate in three main geographic areas:

•	 Singapore - the Company is headquartered in Singapore and has operations in Singapore. The operations 
in this area are principally investment holding and sale and distribution of telecommunication products.

•	 People’s Republic of China - the operations in this area are principally property investment and property 
development.

•	 Japan - the operations in this area are principally property investment, property development investing 
and reselling properties and hospitality services. All properties developed for sale and investment 
properties have been fully sold during the financial year 2015.

Sales
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

People’s Republic of China 3,796 1,980
Japan 19,093 31,386

22,889 33,366
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35.	 Segment information (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

Non-current assets
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Singapore 20,896 20,293
People’s Republic of China 12,287 19,802
Japan – 118,093

33,183 158,188

36.	 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 or later periods and which 
the Group has not early adopted.

•	 FRS 1 Presentation of financial statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2016)

The amendment clarifies guidance in FRS 1 on materiality and aggregation, the presentation of subtotals, 
the structure of financial statements and the disclosure of accounting policies.

This amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the financial statements of the Group.

•	 FRS 115 Revenue from contracts with customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2017)

This is the converged standard on revenue recognition. It replaces FRS 11 Construction contracts, FRS 18 
Revenue, and related interpretations. Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good 
or service. A customer obtains control when it has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits 
from the good or service. The core principle of FRS 115 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in 
accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:

-	 Step 1: 	Identify the contract(s) with a customer
-	 Step 2: 	Identify the performance obligations in the contract
-	 Step 3: 	Determine the transaction price
-	 Step 4:	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
-	 Step 5: 	Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

FRS 115 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that will result in an entity providing 
users of financial statements with comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s contracts with customers.

This amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the financial statements of the Group.
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36.	 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

•	 FRS 109 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

The complete version of FRS 109 replaces most of the guidance in FRS 39. FRS 109 retains but simplifies 
the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: 
amortised cost, fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and fair value through Profit or 
Loss. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at 
fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value 
in OCI. There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model 
used in FRS 39.

For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the 
recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at 
fair value, through profit or loss. FRS 109 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing 
the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship between the hedged item 
and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the one management actually use 
for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to that 
currently prepared under FRS 39.

This amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the financial statements of the Group.

37.	 Events occurring after the reporting period

The Group is making a special payout of S$1.60 per share through a proposed capital reduction exercise to be 
approved by shareholders at Extraordinary General Meeting scheduled on 18 February 2016.

On 8 January 2016, there was a return of capital from Palladio One LLC amounting to $273,704.

On 11 January 2016, there was a return of capital from Palladio Hospitality LLC, Palladio Hospitality One LLC and 
Palladio Hospitality Two LLC amounting to $7,846,327, $8,537,247 and $29,971,901 respectively.

38.	 Authorisation of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of 
IPC Corporation Ltd on 3 February 2016.
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39.	 Listing of all companies in the Group

Name of companies Principal activities

Country of
business/
incorporation Equity holding

2015 2014
% %

Subsidiaries held by the Company

Corex Technology (S) Pte Ltd(c), (d) Compulsory liquidation Singapore 100 100

Corex Systems (S) Pte Ltd(a), (c) Assembly of electronic Singapore 100 100
components and trading of
electronic products (Dormant)

e-ipc (HK) Ltd(c) Investment holding (Dormant) Hong Kong 100 100

Essex Electronics (Singapore) Pte 
Ltd(a), (c)

Sales and distribution of
telecommunication products

Singapore 100 100

IPC Corporation (Korea) Ltd(c) Sales and distribution of
computers and related
products (Dormant)

Korea 92 92

IPC (Holdings) Inc.(c) Investment holding (Dormant) U.S.A 100 100

IPC Information and Communication
	(Pte) Ltd(a), (c)

Provision of commercial value
added network services

Singapore 100 100

(Dormant)

IPC Peripherals (Pte) Ltd(a) Sales and distribution of
computer system boards and
peripheral products

Singapore 100 100

IPC Singapore Pte Ltd(a), (c) Investment holding (Dormant) Singapore 100 100

IPC Property Development (Zhuhai)
	Ltd(a)

Investment holding and
property development

People’s Republic
of China

100 100

Zhuhai Costa Del Sol Grand nest 
HOTEL Management Co. Ltd(a), (b)

Club and hotel management 
company

People’s Republic
of China

75 25

Palladio Hospitality LLC(e) Investment in income producing Japan 89 89
assets

Palladio Hospitality One LLC(e) Investment in income producing
assets

Japan 89 89

Palladio Hospitality Two LLC(e) Investment in income producing
assets

Japan 97  97

Palladio One LLC(e) Investing and developing Japan 97 97
properties
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39.	 Listing of all companies in the Group (continued)

Name of companies Principal activities

Country of
business/
incorporation Equity holding

2015 2014
% %

Associated company held by the 
subsidiaries

Zhuhai Costa Del Sol Grand nest 
HOTEL Management Co. Ltd(a), (b)

Club and hotel management
company

People’s Republic 
of China

25 75

Associated company held by the
	Company

Hagenuk (Pte) Ltd(a), (c) Sales and distribution of
telecommunication products
(Dormant)

Singapore 50 50

(a)	 Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Singapore.
(b)	 Effective holding by the Group is 100%.
(c)	 Immaterial to the Group.
(d)	 In the process of liquidation.
(e)	 Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation. Management financial 

statements are reviewed by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Singapore as part of the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Number of equity securities : 85,291,885
Class of equity securities : Ordinary shares
Voting rights : One vote per share
Number of treasury shares : Nil

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS NO.OF SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1  -  99 8,169 33.85 358,782 0.42
100  -  1,000 12,879 53.37 3,932,322 4.61
1,001  -  10,000 2,716 11.26 8,385,621 9.83
10,001  -  1,000,000 355 1.47 21,554,080 25.27
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 13 0.05 51,061,080 59.87

TOTAL 24,132 100.00 85,291,885 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1 DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD            26,065,195 30.56
2 ESSEX INVESTMENT (S) PTE LTD               7,558,114 8.86
3 MORPH INVESTMENTS LTD              3,869,300 4.54
4 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD              2,383,684 2.79
5 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED              1,976,455 2.32
6 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED              1,307,706 1.53
7 BANK OF SINGAPORE NOMINEES PTE. LTD.              1,239,312 1.45
8 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED              1,229,315 1.44
9 LAUW HUI KIAN                              1,159,779 1.36
10 NGIAM MIA HAI BERNARD                      1,096,029 1.29
11 NGIAM MIA JE PATRICK                       1,063,981 1.25
12 NGIAM MIA HONG ALFRED                      1,058,529 1.24
13 NGIAM MIA KIAT BENJAMIN                    1,053,681 1.24
14 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECS PTE LTD                993,917 1.17
15 TANG YINGJIE                                 988,400 1.16
16 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED                900,000 1.06
17 OEI HONG LEONG                850,000 1.00
18 HONG LEONG FINANCE                840,300 0.99
19 LIM CHIN CHOO @ ELIZABETH LIM                788,400 0.92
20 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED                715,759 0.84

TOTAL 57,137,856 67.01

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDINGS IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

Approximately 53.21% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company has complied 
with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS   
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

Oei Hong Leong1 26,915,120 31.56 - -

Essex Investment (Singapore) Pte Ltd (“Essex”) 7,558,114 8.86 - -

Ngiam Mia Je Patrick2 1,063,981 1.25 8,717,893 10.22

Ngiam Mia Kiat Benjamin3 1,053,681 1.24 7,558,114 8.86

Lauw Hui Kian4 1,159,779 1.36 8,622,095 10.11

Notes:

1	 A total of 26,065,120 shares held by Mr Oei Hong Leong are registered in the name of DB Nominees (Singapore) 
Pte Ltd. 

2	 Deemed interest in 7,558,114 shares held by Essex by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act and 1,159,779 
shares held by Ms Lauw Hui Kian.

3	 Deemed interest in 7,558,114 shares held by Essex by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

4	 Deemed interest in 7,558,114 shares held by Essex by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act and 1,063,981 
shares held by Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick.
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IPC CORPORATION LTD 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of IPC Corporation Ltd (“the Company”) will be held at 
23 Tai Seng Drive, #06-00 Deutsche Telekom Centre, Singapore 535224 on Thursday, 28 April 2016 at 2.30 p.m. for the 
following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.	

(Resolution 1)
		
2.	 To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 90 of the Company’s Constitution:
		

Mr Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard	 (Resolution 2)
Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick	 (Resolution 3)

Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the 
Nominating Committee and will be considered non-independent.

3.	 To re-appoint Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip as Director of the Company who was previously re-appointed to hold 
office until this Annual General Meeting pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, which was in 
force immediately before 3 January 2016.

Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip will, upon re-appointment as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the 
Audit Committee and a member of the Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee and will be 
considered independent.

(Resolution 4)

4.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$242,000.00 for the year ended 31 December 2015 (previous year: 
S$242,000.00). 

(Resolution 5)

5.	 To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors 
of the Company to fix their remuneration.	

(Resolution 6)
	
6.	 To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
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AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution, with or without any modifications:

		
7.	 Authority to issue new shares 

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to: 

(a)	 (i)	 issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii)	 make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 
require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other Instruments convertible into shares, 

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors 
of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b)	 (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares 
in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution 
was in force,

provided that:

(1)	 the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made 
or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty 
per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other 
than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of 
the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2) below);

(2)	 (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the 
aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of 
issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time 
of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for: 

(a)	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b)	 new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding 
or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and 

(c)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3)	 in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of 
the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by 
the SGX-ST) and the Constitution of the Company; and 

(4)	 unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.
[See Explanatory Note (i)]

(Resolution 7)

By Order of the Board

Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard
Secretary

Singapore, 12 April 2016
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Explanatory Note:

(i)	 The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, 
effective until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked 
by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant Instruments 
convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 
50% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other 
than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares will be 
calculated based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary 
Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible 
securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this 
Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

Notes:

1. 	 (a)	 A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend
 		  and vote in his/her stead at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”).

    	 (b)   	 A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote
 		  at the Meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Share or
 		  Shares held by them. 

		  “Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

2.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 23 
Tai Seng Drive, #06-00 Deutsche Telekom Centre, Singapore 535224 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before 
the time appointed for holding the Meeting. 

Personal data privacy:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting 
and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the 
member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the 
Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) 
and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Meeting 
(including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, 
listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses 
the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member 
has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by 
the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) 
agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and 
damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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IPC CORPORATION LTD
Company Registration No.198501057M
(Incorporated in Singapore with limited liability)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

I/We, 

of

being a member/members of IPC Corporation Ltd (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies 
to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held on 28 April 
2016 at 2.30 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions 
proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain from voting at his/her/their discretion, as he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any 
adjournment thereof.

No. Resolutions relating to:
Number of Votes 

For(1)

Number of Votes 
Against(1)

1 Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 December 2015

2 Re-election of Mr Ngiam Mia Hai Bernard as a Director

3 Re-election of Mr Ngiam Mia Je Patrick as a Director

4 Re-appointment of Mr Lee Soo Hoon Phillip as a Director

5 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$242,000.00

6 Re-appointment of Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors

7 Authority to issue new shares

(1)	 If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick [] within the box provided. Alternatively, 
please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this _______ day of ____________ 2016

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

 
*Delete where inapplicable

IMPORTANT:
1.	 A relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to attend 

the Annual General Meeting and vote (please see note 4 for the definition 
of “relevant intermediary”).

2.	 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy the Company’s 
shares, this Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their 
CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

3.	 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be 
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by 
them.

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a)  CDP Register

(b)  Register of Members



Notes:

1.	 Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289), you should insert that number 
of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number 
of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your 
name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name 
in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more 
than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 Where a member of the Company appoints more than one proxy, that member shall specify the proportion of his/
her shareholding to be represented by each proxy and if the proportion is not specified, the first named proxy shall 
be deemed to represent 100 per cent. of the shareholding of that member and the second named proxy shall be 
deemed to be an alternate to the first named proxy.

 
4.	 A member who is a relevant intermediary entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint more than 

two proxies to attend and vote instead of the member, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights 
attached to a different Share or Shares held by such member. Where such member appoints more than two proxies, 
the appointments shall be invalid unless the member specifies the number of Shares in relation to which each proxy 
has been appointed. 

“Relevant intermediary” means:

(a)	 a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a 
banking corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that 
capacity; 

(b)	 a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the 
Securities and Futures Act (Cap. 289) and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c)	 the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect of shares 
purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments 
from the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the 
Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary 
legislation.

5.	 Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and 
voting at the Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends 
the meeting in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons 
appointed under the instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 23 Tai 
Seng Drive, #06-00 Deutsche Telekom Centre, Singapore 535224 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed 
for the Meeting.

7.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be 
executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney 
or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

8.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as 
it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 
50 of Singapore.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the 
personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 12 April 2016.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly 
completed or illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the 
appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the 
Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being 
the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the 
time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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